STUDY OF PLANT WATER RELATIONS AND PHENOLOGY IN *QUERCUS LEUCOTRICHOPHORA* A. CAMUS AND *CASTANOPSIS TRIBULOIDES* (SM.) A. DC. AT SHIVAPURI NAGARJUN NATIONAL PARK,

**KATHMANDU** 



# A DISSERTATION SUBMITTED FOR THE PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE MASTER'S DEGREE IN BOTANY

BY

# SARITA DHAKAL

Symbol Number: 450/073

(TU Registration No. 5-2-0050-0885-2012)

**DEPARTMENT OF BOTANY** 

# **AMRIT CAMPUS**

## INSTITUTE OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY

# TRIBHUVAN UNIVERSITY

## KATHMANDU, NEPAL

March, 2022

### DECLARATION

I, Sarita Dhakal, hereby declare that the dissertation work entitled "Study of plant water relations and phenology in *Quercus leucotrichophora* A. Camus and *Castanopsis tribuloides* (Sm.) A. Dc. at Shivapuri Nagarjun National Park, Kathmandu" is a genuine work done by me and has not been published elsewhere for the award of any degree. All the information cited in this piece of work are specifically acknowledged and credited to the respective authors or institutions as references.

i

लेश प्रविधि अहम्म अमृत क्यास्पस

Santa

- Sarita Dhakal

Department of Botany Amrit Campus Kathmandu, Nepal March, 2022



Ref No .:

### **TRIBHUVAN UNIVERSITY**

AMRIT CAMPUS

**Department of Botany** 

Thamel, Kathmandu

Tel: 4410408 4411637

March, 2022

# RECOMMENDATION

This is to certify that Ms. Sarita Dhakal has completed the dissertation work entitled "Study of plant water relations and phenology in *Quercus leucotrichophora* A. Camus and *Castanopsis tribuloides* (Sm.) A. Dc. at Shivapuri Nagarjun National Park, Kathmandu" under my supervision. The entire work is based on the results of her own field work and laboratory work and has not been submitted in any other academic degree to the best of my knowledge. I, therefore, recommended this dissertation to be accepted for partial fulfillment of Master's Degree in Botany from Amrit Campus, Tribhuvan University.

Wonlyot

Prof. Dr. Kanta Poudyal Supervisor Department of Botany Amrit Campus Tribhuvan University Kathmandu, Nepal





**TRIBHUVAN UNIVERSITY** 

**AMRIT CAMPUS** 

Tel: 4410408 4411637

Department of Botany

Thamel, Kathmandu

Ref No .:

# LETTER OF APPROVAL

This dissertation work entitled "Study of plant water relations and phenology in *Quercus leucotrichophora* A. Camūs and *Castanopsis tribuloides* (Sm.) A. Dc. at Shivapuri Nagarjun National Park, Kathmandu" submitted by Sarita Dhakal has been accepted for the examination and submitted to Amrit Campus, Tribhuvan University for partial fulfillment of the requirements for Master's Degree in Botany (Ecology).

### **EXPERT COMMITTEE**

Supervisor

Prof. Dr. Kanta Poudyal Department of Botany, Amrit Campus

External examiner Assoc. Prof. Dr. Yadav Uprety Central Department of Botany, TU

ani Past.

M. Sc. Coordinator Lecturer Dr. Laxmi Joshi Shrestha Department of Botany, Amrit Campus

Date of oral examination: 2022/04/11

Internal Examiner Prof. Dr. Mukesh Kumar Chettri Department of Botany, Amrit Campus

Head of Department Assoc. Prof. Dr. Shila Singh Department of Botany, Amrit Campus

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my deep sense of gratitude towards my Supervisor Prof. Dr. Kanta Poudyal, for her continuous support and guidance throughout my dissertation work.

I am highly thankful to the Coordinator of Department of Botany Dr. Laxmi Joshi Shrestha for the facilities provided and sincere cooperation during the study.

I am indebted to the teaching and laboratory faculty of Department of Botany for their concern and support.

I am extremely thankful to my seniors Sonu Khadayat and Sarita Chataut for extending helping hands during field as well as the laboratory works.

My special thank goes to my classmate Ganga Bahadur Khatri as being colleague in my research work and helped me during my field visits and laboratory work. I would also like to acknowledge my teammates Renu Pokharel, Avinash Pajiyar, Keshavi Mahara, Sharada Dhakal, Bishal Subedi, Navin Darai, Ram Prasad Khanal and Saroj Shah for their help during the study.

Last but not least, I am very much thankful to my family members and my husband for always encouraging me and continuous supporting during my thesis work completion.

मेश प्रतिधि अध्यय अमृत क्याम्पस

Sarita Dhakal

# **ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS**

A <sub>l</sub>	Leaf surface area
ABA	Abscissic acid
Awe	Effective xylem area
A <sub>wt</sub>	Mean xylem area
BP	Balance pressure
et al.	And others
$\Psi_{\rm w}$	Water potential
$\Psi_{\text{Lpd}}$	Predawn leaf water potential
$\Psi_{\text{Lmd}}$	Midday leaf water potential
$\Psi_{pd}$	Predawn water potential
$\Psi_{p}$	Pressure potential
$\Psi_{s}$	Osmotic potential
$\Psi_{ m sf}$	Osmotic potential at full turgor
$\Psi_{sz}$	Osmotic potential at zero turgor
$\Psi_{\rm m}$	Matric potential
$\Psi_{ m g}$	Gravitational potential
gw	Stomatal conductance
H <sub>v</sub>	Huber value
3	Index of elasticity
IDT	Index of desiccation tolerance
K <sub>h</sub>	Hydraulic conductivity
Kı	Leaf specific conductivity
Ks	Specific conductivity
MPa	Mega Pascal
PG	Pressure gradient

P-V curve	Pressure volume curve
PWP	Permanent wilting point
r	Karl Pearson coefficient of correlation
RWC	Relative water content
RWCz	Relative water content at zero turgor
SLM	Specific leaf mass
SMC	Soil moisture content
SNNP	Shivapuri Nagarjun National Park
Starch <sub>0</sub>	Starch content in zero year twigs
Starch <sub>1</sub>	Starch content in one year twigs
VDC	Village Development Committee

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

DECLARATION	i
RECOMMENDATION	ii
LETTER OF APPROVAL	iii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iv
ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS	v
LIST OF PLATES	ix
LIST OF FIGURES	xi
LIST OF TABLES	. xiii
LIST OF APPENDICES	. xiv
ABSTRACT	XV
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1. Background	1
1.2. Justification	6
1.3. Research objectives	7
1.4. Limitation	8
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW	9
2.1. Historical Background	9
2.2. Recent works	10
CHAPTER 3: MATERIAL AND METHODS	22
3.1. Study Area	22
3.1.1. Geology and Topography	23
3.1.2. Climate	24
3.1.3. Vegetation	24
3.1.4. Species characteristics	25
3.1.5. Human activities	26
3.2. Methodology	26
3.2.1. Soil moisture content	26
3.2.2. Pressure Volume Analysis	27
3.2.3. P-V Theory	28
3.2.4. Balance Pressure Measurement	30

3.3.0	Components of Plant Water Potential	31
3.	3.1. Osmotic potential ( $\Psi_s$ )	.31
3.	3.2. Relative water content at zero turgor	. 31
3.	3.3. Index of elasticity (ε)	. 32
3.	3.4. Index of desiccation tolerance (IDT)	. 32
3.4. ]	Twig Conductance	33
3.	4.1. Pressure gradient	. 34
3.	4.2. Effective xylem area (A <sub>WE</sub> )	.34
3.	4.3. Huber Value (H <sub>v</sub> )	. 35
3.	4.4. Hydraulic conductivity (K <sub>h</sub> )	.35
3.	.4.5. Specific Conductivity (K <sub>s</sub> )	. 35
3.	4.6. Leaf specific Conductivity (K1)	.35
3.	4.7. Specific Leaf Mass (SLM)	.36
3.5. ]	Twig Starch Content	36
3.6. I	Phenology	36
3.7. 5	Statistical Analysis	36
CHAPT	TER 4: RESULTS	37
4.1. \$	Soil Moisture Content	37
4.2. I	Pressure Volume Analysis	38
4.3. ]	Гwig Conductance	41
4.4. ]	Гwig Starch Content	44
4.5. 5	Specific Leaf Mass	45
4.6. I	Relationship among the parameters	47
4.	.6.1. Correlation of soil moisture content with other variables	.47
4.	.6.2. Correlation of RWC <sub>z</sub> , $\psi_{sz}$ and $\psi_{sf}$ with other variables	. 48
4.	.6.3. Correlation of Index of elasticity with other variables	. 48
4.	.6.4. Correlation of IDT	. 48
4.	.6.5. Correlation of starch percentage content in twigs	.49
4.	.6.6. Correlation of SLM	.49

4.6.7. Correlation of Huber value
4.6.8. Correlation of Hydraulic conductivity
4.6.9. Correlation between Specific conductivity and Leaf specific conductivity
4.7. Phenology
CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION
CHAPTER 6: CONCLUSION
REFERENCES
APPENDICES I
Appendix 1: Soil moisture content (%) at 15 cm and 30 cm depth, monthly variation for <i>C. tribuloides</i> and <i>Q. leucotrichophora</i> I
Appendix 2: Parameters obtained PV- curve analysisII
Appendix 3: Parameters obtained from twig conductance III
Appendix 4: Monthly variation in mean leaf area (mm <sup>2</sup> ) for <i>C. tribuloides</i> and <i>Q. leucotrichophora</i>
Appendix 5: Monthly variationin starch reserved (%) and specific leaf mass (SLM,
gcm <sup>-2</sup> ) for <i>C. tribuloides</i> and <i>Q. leucotrichophora</i> V
PHOTOPLATES

# LIST OF PLATES

Plate 1: Pressure chamber fitted with nitrogen gas cylinder

Plate 2: Measurement of flow rate of twig using oxalic acid and measurement of staining xylem using saffranin

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Map of the Study Area	23
Figure 2: Ombrothermic graph for the year 2019	24
Figure 3: Variation in Soil Moisture Content at 15cm depth (%) during February 2	2019
to January 2020 in C. tribuloides and Q. leucotrichophora	37
Figure 4: Variation in Soil Moisture Content at 30cm depth (%) during February 2 to January 2020 in <i>C. tribuloides</i> and <i>Q. leucotrichophora</i>	2019 38
Figure 5: Variation in Relative Water Content at zero turgor (RWCz,) during Febr	uary
2019 to January 2020 in C. tribuloides and Q. leucotrichophora	38
Figure 6: Variation in Osmotic potential at zero turgor ( $\Psi_{sz}$ ) during February 201 January 2020 in <i>C. tribuloides</i> and <i>Q. leucotrichophora</i>	19 to 39
Figure 7: Variation in Osmotic potential at full turgor ( $\Psi_{sf}$ ) during February 201 January 2020 in <i>C. tribuloides</i> and <i>Q. leucotrichophora</i>	19 to 40
Figure 8: Variation in Index of Elasticity (ε) during February 2019 to January 202 <i>C. tribuloides</i> and <i>Q. leucotrichophora</i>	20 in 40
Figure 9: Variation in Index of Desiccation Tolerance (IDT) during February 201 January 2020 in <i>C. tribuloides</i> and <i>Q. leucotrichophora</i>	19 to 41
Figure 10: Variation in Huber value (H <sub>v</sub> ) during February 2019 to January 2020 i	in <i>C</i> .
tribuloides and Q. leucotrichophora	42
Figure 11: Variation in in Hydraulic conductivity (K <sub>h</sub> ) during February 201 January 2020 in <i>C. tribuloides</i> and <i>Q. leucotrichophora</i>	9 to 42
Figure 12: Variation in Specific conductivity (Ks) during February 2019 to Jan	uary
2020 in C. tribuloides and Q. leucotrichophora	43
Figure 13: Variation in Leaf specific conductivity $(K_1)$ during February 201	9 to
January 2020 in C. tribuloides and Q. leucotrichophora	44
Figure 14: Variation in Starch percentage in zero year twig (Starch <sub>0</sub> ) during Febr 2019 to January 2020 in <i>C. tribuloides</i> and <i>Q. leucotrichophora</i>	tuary 45

Figure 15: Variation in Starch percentage in one year twig (Starch <sub>1</sub> ) during Febr	uary
2019 to January 2020 in C. tribuloides and Q. leucotrichophora	45
Figure 16: Variation in Specific Leaf Mass (SLM) during February 2019 to Jan	iuary
2020 in C. tribuloides and Q. leucotrichophora	46
Figure 17: Phenological activities in <i>Q. leucotrichophora</i> during all sampling	
months	53
Figure 18: Phenological activities in C. tribuloides during all sampling months	53
Figure 19: Variation in leaf area during February 2019 to January 2020 in	n C.
tribuloides and Q. leucotrichophora	54

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: ANOVA result showing variation among sampling months in C. tribuloid	es
and <i>Q. leucotrichophora</i> . Significance values: $P < 0.05$	46
Table 2: ANOVA result showing variation between <i>C. tribuloides</i> and <i>Q</i> .	
<i>leucotrichophora</i> . Significance values: $P < 0.05$	47
Table 3: Pearson coefficient of correlation between various parameters shown by C	7.
<i>tribuloides</i> . Significance values: *=P < 0.05, **=P < 0.01	50
Table 4: Pearson coefficient of correlation between various parameters shown by Q	<u>)</u> .

*leucotrichophora*. Significance values: \*=P < 0.05, \*\*=P < 0.01 51

### LIST OF APPENDICES

- Appendix 1: Soil moisture content (%) at 15 cm and 30 cm depth, monthly variationfor C. tribuloides and Q. leucotrichophora. Values are mean with  $\pm$ Standard errorI
- Appendix 2: Parameters obtained PV- curve analysis. Monthly variation in relative water content at zero turgor (RWC<sub>z</sub>, %), osmotic potential at zero turgor ( $\psi_{sz}$ , MPa), osmotic potential at full turgor ( $\psi_{sf}$ , MPa), index of elasticity ( $\epsilon$ , MPa) and desiccation tolerance (IDT) for *C. tribuloides* and *Q. leucotrichophora*. Values are mean with ± Standard error II
- Appendix 3: Parameters obtained from twig conductance. Monthly variation in Xylem conductivity (K<sub>h</sub>, kg. m. sec<sup>-1</sup>. MPa<sup>-1</sup>), Huber Value (H<sub>v</sub>), Specific conductivity (K<sub>s</sub>, kg. m<sup>-1</sup>. sec<sup>-1</sup>. MPa<sup>-1</sup>) and Leaf specific conductivity (K<sub>l</sub>, kg. m<sup>-1</sup>. sec<sup>-1</sup>. MPa<sup>-1</sup>) for *C. tribuloides* and *Q. leucotrichophora*. Values are mean with ± Standard error
- Appendix 4: Monthly variation in mean leaf area (mm<sup>2</sup>) for *C. tribuloides* and *Q. leucotrichophora* IV
- Appendix 5: Monthly variationin starch reserved (%) and specific leaf mass (SLM, gcm<sup>-2</sup>) for *C. tribuloides* and *Q. leucotrichophora*. Values are mean with ± Standard error V

### ABSTRACT

Study on plant water relations and phenology of Castanopsis tribuloides and Quercus leucotrichophora was performed in Shivapuri Nagarjun National Park, Kathmandu, Nepal. Monthly variation in water relation parameters and phenological processes such as leaf emergence, senescence, flowering, fruiting, etc. of C. tribuloides and Q. leucotrichophora were studied. The measurements were carried out from February 2019 to January 2020 at monthly interval. Water relation parameters like soil moisture content at 15 cm and 30 cm depth, Pressure Volume (P-V) curve analysis, Huber value (H<sub>v</sub>), specific conductivity (K<sub>s</sub>), leaf specific conductivity (K<sub>l</sub>), hydraulic conductivity (K<sub>h</sub>), specific leaf mass (SLM), twig starch content and phenological changes were recorded. Soil moisture content showed significant variation among sampled months and was lowest in the month of February. Relative water content at zero turgor (RWC<sub>z</sub>) showed lowest value during March in both species. Both osmotic potential at zero and full turgor ( $\psi_{sz}$  and  $\psi_{sf}$  respectively) showed lowest value during November in C. tribuloides and during January in Q. leucotrichophora when post monsoon rain was negligible. High elasticity in C. tribuloides was found in April and showed a synchrony with the ongoing phenological activities. Phenological activities such as bud break, leaf emergence, twig emergence and shoot elongation in both species started with the onset of dry months (February-May) while flowering in Q. leucotrichophora started in dry months but in C. tribuloides flowering took place in the month of September. Low values in Relative Water Content at zero turgor (RWC<sub>z</sub>), osmotic potential at zero turgor ( $\psi_{sz}$ ), xylem conductance and index of elasticity ( $\epsilon$ ) were found during dry months in both species in spite of high IDT. Xylem conductance had a strong effect on phenological activities. Some patterns of xylem conductance were related to leaf emergence as K<sub>h</sub>, K<sub>l</sub> and H<sub>v</sub> increased in February. Starch<sub>0</sub> and starch<sub>1</sub> in both species showed high seasonal variation and had a strong effect of phenological activities. SLM decreased at the time of senescence and increased when leaves were fully expanded and mature.

*Keywords*: Huber value, leaf specific conductivity, osmotic potential, phenology, relative water content, specific leaf mass, xylem conductance.

## **CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION**

### 1.1. Background

Water, a substance that may justifiably be called the fluid of life, is crucial for all plants as an integral part of their living systems both ecologically in shaping environmental conditions patterns and biochemically as an important aspect in physiological processes (Manske, 2001).Water is commonly considered to be the most important environmental factor affecting growth and distribution of trees (Hinckley *et al.*, 1991).

Plant water relations explain how plant control the hydration of their cells, including the availability of water from soil, its transport within the plant and its loss by evaporation from the leaves. Plant function requires effective mechanisms such as photosynthesis, transpiration, support system and nutrient distribution. A physiological necessity for all protoplasm, water, from the ecological viewpoint, is chiefly a limiting factor in land environments. It is also necessary as a transport medium in the xylem and phloem and helps in the maintenance of the shape and orientation of cells and stomatal function (Hinckely *et al.*, 1991). Water availability is a major factor controlling vegetation development and species distribution (Kramer and Boyer, 1995). Growth of plants particularly depends on at least a minimum degree of cell turgor.

Independent of the species, plant requires a water volume from the soil that overcomes its metabolic necessities. Decrease in water content is accompanied by loss of turgor and wilting, cessation of cell enlargement, stomatal closure, reduction in photosynthesis and interference with many other basic metabolic processes (Kramer and Boyer, 1995). Tree water status varies with availability of subsoil water and a variety of physiological and structural factors such as life span of leaves, time of leaf shedding, wood density, stem water storage capacity and the depth and density of root systems (Borchert, 1993). Growth of higher plants is more sensitive to their water supply and responds more quickly to soil water deficit than to any other factors of the environment.

Soil water content is the amount of water stored in the soil at a given time. The most commonly defined soil water content values are saturation, field capacity, wilting point, etc. Plants absorb water through root hairs from the soil which can sense moisture gradient and grow toward moist patches (Lambers *et al.*, 1998). Leaves receive the signal of soil drying through phytohormone Abscisic acid that reduces the stomatal conductance and leaf growth even when the leaf water status is normal (Passioura, 1988). As the soil dries, plants sense to water limitation increases and water uptake by roots diminishes. As metabolism in plant cells decrease, the cells synthesize osmotically compatible solutes in the cytosol, mainly sugars and amino acids such as sorbitol, mannitol, proline and some ions. The accumulation of these solutes reduces the solute potential as well as water potential of cell which being more negative, enables the plant to maintain a positive turgor pressure (Lambers *et al.*, 1998).

Hydraulic lift is the movement of water from deep moist soil to drier surface soils through root system. Primarily hydraulic lift occurs at night when stomata are closed, so that plant is at equilibrium with root water potential (Lambers *et al.*, 1998). The nocturnal hydraulic lift in deep rooting plants helps other plants with more superficial root systems to survive period of drought (Larcher, 1995).

The structure of the water conductive system (hydraulic architecture) can potentially limit leaf water potential, stomatal behavior and gas exchange (Tyree and Ewers, 1996). Stomatal behavior is probably the most sensitive and earliest indicator of the physiological status of the whole plant (Smith and Hollinger, 1991) and depends both on the water availability in the soil and on the vapour pressure of the air (Lambers *et al.*, 1998). Plant controls their water status by regulating the size of the stomatal openings, which modify the rate of water loss thus reducing water loss can reduce the effect of deficient soil moisture on water potential (Zobel and Singh, 1995).

The hydraulic conductivity is important in determining the water potential ( $\psi_w$ ) of a plant in the field. The amount of water moved through the vascular system in unit time depends on the specific properties of the xylem, such as the conducting area (cross sectional area of the vessels) and flow resistances; on the physiological state of the plant, e.g. degree of the stomatal opening; and on environmental conditions (Larcher, 1995).

In general, xylem is an evolutionary structure compromising between efficient conduction and protection against blockage by gas bubbles (embolism), being most efficient for conduction of water but more at risk to embolism formed by cavitations (Kozlowski *et al.*, 1991). A drop in the water potential inside xylem vessels below a threshold value causes cavitation of water in xylem conduits. Xylem embolism by cavitation causes a diminish in hydraulic conductance of plant stems (Tyree and Sperry, 1989), which will in the long run cause reduction in photosynthetic rates and biomass generation due to closure of stomata.

An analysis of the changes in water potential, which actually is the osmotic potential of the vascular sap and the turgor or pressure potential (Kozlowski *et al.*, 1991), can be used to determine several properties of the plant that may affect its water relations. Pressure-volume analysis is the tool that is used in analyzing of various components of tissue water relation parameters and their relationship with tissue relative water content (Tyree and Jarvis, 1982).

Turgor maintenance which is critically important for plant growth and survival under severe drought condition as in Himalayan trees, is achieved mainly by the integrated mechanism of osmotic potential, changes in tissue elasticity (bulk modulus of elasticity) and tissue relative water content (RWC). Deciduous species, which could reduce relative water content (RWC) to lower value before turgor loss, have more elastic tissue and higher osmotic potential at zero turgor ( $\psi_{sz}$ ) and osmotic potential at full turgor ( $\psi_{sf}$ ) than evergreens. This supports the suggestion that elastic cell walls are important for drought resistance in trees (Lambers *et al.*, 1998) but appears to contrast Davis (2005) who showed that a less elastic cell wall was also important in drought resistant trees. It appears that elastic walls allow tissue to maintain turgor longer as water is lost, while the stiff (less elastic) walls cause  $\psi_w$  to drop quickly as water losses, increasing the gradient of  $\psi_w$  from soil to leaf and increasing water uptake (Poudyal *et al.*, 2012a).

Trees subjected to low water potential during leaf growth reduce osmotic potentials and increase the leaf elasticity during that period. When  $\psi_{sf}$  is low, plants can maintain turgidity at low relative water content at zero turgor (RWC<sub>z</sub>). Osmotic adjustment of this kind has been reported in some oaks (e.g., *Quercus petraea*) where soil drying induced the accumulation of fructose and glucose (Epron and Dreyer, 1996). Osmotic adjustment could enable the plant to maintain turgor at lower  $\psi_w$  and continue to absorb water from relatively dry soil (Lambers *et al.*, 1998). Also the stomatal aperture is controlled by osmotic adjustment in the surrounding cells.

Moreover, changes in an index of tissue elasticity ( $\varepsilon$ ) are more significant for adaptation to drought than osmotic adjustment (Niinemets, 2001). However, the role of elasticity in turgor maintenance is not well-defined (Clifford *et al.*, 1998, Niinemets, 2001). Either low or high elasticity might benefit plant performance, which depends on different situations. The high elasticity in soft, developing leaves would help to maintain their turgor before the monsoon. Transpirational demand during leafing may be decreased by leaf loss that begins well before new leaf expansion, a short period of leaflessness in some years by Himalayan evergreen species (Negi & Singh 1992, Poudyal *et al.*, 2004), or completion of leaf expansion during the monsoon in *Pinus* (Zobel and Singh, 1995) and on *Quercus* sp. (Poudyal *et al.*, 2004).

Leaf structural character influences leaf energy and water balance. Specific leaf mass (dry leaf mass per area) is a key quality in plant development (Lambers and Poorter, 1992). A higher SLM has a higher energy cost (Griffin, 1994) and requires a longer time for leaf expansion. Longer photosynthetic periods probably compensate for the high energy cost of evergreen leaves, with their high SLM (Kikuzawa, 1995). Evergreen leaves lose mass gradually, without senescing, during late winter and spring. But in contrast, deciduous leaves begin to lose mass before the end of rainy season and senesce rapidly during autumn (Ralhan and Singh, 1987). Spiny leaves might be associated with their drought tolerant adaptations. Spiny leaves in *Q. semecarpifolia* young plants when drought was severe have been reported by (Poudyal *et al.*, 2012b).

Starch, a photosynthetic storage of plants is accumulated when sucrose production exceeds the demand than it is required by the plants. Since any kind of stress, external or internal, decreases the photosynthetic rate of plant tissues reduce the starch in plant. Relative amount of starch in one and two years old twig of dominant trees have been successfully used to detect stress on forest (Zobel, 1996a; Poudyal *et al.*, 2012b). Mostly a higher starch staining was found in zero year twigs than in the previous year's twigs in *Castanopsis indica* which indicated the expeditious shift of such

accumulates to the new shoots (Poudyal, 2014). Decrease in starch staining after leaf emergence indicated hydrolysis of photosynthates into soluble carbohydrates (Poudyal, 2014). The seasonal variations may show a significant correlation with water relation parameters and phenology of trees.

Phenology is the timing of biological event and their relationship to seasonal climatic changes. The biological events such as bud burst, flowering, fruitification, leaf senescence and leaf fall, are genetically pre-determined but also strongly modulated by environmental conditions. Phenological events of the plants are good indicators of climatic differences and can be used to monitor the biotic and local climate characteristics in plants species (Orshan, 1989). In seasonal climate, trees often experience water deficiency and hence seasonality of moisture deficit is reflected in their physiological mechanisms and phenological processes. The onset and duration of particular phases of development vary from year to year, depending on the weather (Larcher, 1995). Thus, phenological observations provide background information on the functional rhythms of plants and plant communities (Singh and Singh, 1992; Poudyal *et al.*, 2012b). Many researchers have observed phenological variations as a consequence of tree water status: leaf expansion (Meinzer *et al.*, 1983), bud set and shoot elongation (Reich and Borchert, 1984), premature leaf senescence, bud burst and flowering of trees (Borchert 1994a, b and c).

Phenology, the distribution of plant activities in time, is associated with soil and tree water status (Borchert, 1994a). The phenological behavior of plants is generally affected by the interaction between water availability, stem water storage and sensitivity to water stress (Holbrook *et al.*, 1995). In Himalayan trees, the phenological processes such as leaf emergence, expansion, flowering and fruiting takes place before the onset of monsoon when trees still bear old leaves primarily at the end of the dry season (Poudyal *et al.*, 2004) indicating that the phenological activities are not inhibited by moderate water stress as found in other part of world (Meinzer *et al.*, 1983) but indicates that the evergreen tree cannot rehydrate during a leafless dry season, as Borchert (1994a, b, c) describes for American dry tropical trees. Evergreen tree species of central Himalaya have leaf drop mainly on dry summer seasons with simultaneous leafing (Ralhan *et al.*, 1985; Poudyal, 2014). The deciduous species which generally occur in the forests of lower elevations also leaf

out during the dry summer season (Shrestha *et al.*, 2007) when day length is increasing and temperatures are rising.

Leaf phenology in both seasonal and non-seasonal environments is a major element in plant strategies for carbon gain (Kikuzawa, 1995). Phenology is a timing of biological events in plants such as leaf flushing, leaf fall, bud break, flowering, fruiting, etc., and their relationship to seasonal climatic changes (Leith, 1974), as the relationship between climatic factors and seasonal biological events showed the phenological changes in plants (Barbour *et al.*, 1999). Seasonal variation in water status not only determines phenology but also the distribution of trees and forest composition (Borchert, 1994a and Zobel *et al.*, 2001).

The natural vegetation of the central Himalaya grow in a particular environmental conditions compared to other parts of the world. There is concentrated rainfall during the monsoon from mid-June to mid-September. Such concentrated warm season and the subsequent 8-9 months of dry periods, limited variation in day length and year around moderate temperature has led to observe the variations in the phenological events (Poudyal *et al.*, 2012b). Most of the Himalayan trees are phenologically active during the dry season i.e. March to May (Ralhan *et al.*, 1985, Poudyal *et al.*, 2012b). In Himalaya trees, both evergreen and deciduous, timing of development and senescense of leaf have been linked to variations in the tree water relations (Escudero and Del Acro, 1987) and such observation strongly plays a dominant role in structuring temporal pattern of the expansion and senescence of leaves.

#### 1.2. Justification

The natural vegetation of the central Himalaya grows in a particular environmental conditions compared to other parts of the world. There is concentrated rainfall during the monsoon from mid-June to mid-September. Such concentrated wet season and the subsequent 8-9 months of dry periods are likely to have profound effects on plant adaptation and ecosystem processes (Singh and Singh, 1992, Zobel and Singh, 1997). So water may become the limiting factor in many sites in Nepal.

For the phenological processes such as leaf emergence, expansion, flowering & fruiting that occur before the onset of monsoon when trees still bear old leaves where rehydration of leafless twigs becomes a prerequisite for initiation of new leaves

(Borchert, 1994a). In Himalayan trees, the phenological processes take place primarily at the end of the dry season (Poudyal *et al.*, 2012a,b) indicating that the phenological activities are not inhibited by moderate water stress as found in other part of world (Meinzer *et al.*, 1983). In recent years, research has suggested that forests in certain areas might become more vulnerable to drought in the close future not only due to water depletion but because of the amplified effect of changes in climate variability and extremes resulting from global warming.

The role of environment, particularly drought, in controlling the distribution and performance in Himalayan tree species is poorly understood (Zobel and Singh, 1997, Poudyal, 2004). Thus, two evergreen tree species namely *Q. leucotrichophora* and *C. tribuloides* were selected to understand their response and adaptive strategy to drought and relationship between the different attributes of water relations parameters and their different phenological events.

#### 1.3. Research objectives

The main objective of this research study is to find out the relative importance of plant water potential for drought resistance and completion of phenological activities during dry periods.

The specific objectives are as follows:

- 1. To measure starch reserves in twigs and its relation with water relations & leaf development.
- 2. To determine soil moisture content.
- 3. To analyze pressure-volume curve to find components of water potential i.e. relative water content, osmotic potential, index of tissue elasticity and desiccation tolerance.
- 4. To estimate the specific leaf mass.
- 5. To measure twig conductance i.e. Huber value, hydraulic conductivity, specific conductivity & leaf specific conductivity.
- 6. To record the phenomorphological events and relationship between phenology and different attributes of water relations of *Castanopsis tribuloides* and *Quercus leucotrichophora*.

### 1.4. Limitations

- Length of time and numbers of measurements are the limiting factor for this study because as a part of Master degree in Botany, time period is limited.
- No public transport facility. Private vehicles were very costly.
- Unprecedented rainfall during measurements.
- Disrupt in electric supply during lab work.

## **CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW**

### 2.1. Historical Background

As far as known, Stephan Hales in 1727 had made the first quantitative experiment on plant water relations in "Vegetable Staticks". He concluded that the rate of transpiration varies with the species, temperature, time of the day and irradiational gradient (Kramer and Boyer, 1995).

The finding of De Saussure (1804) was that the absorption of minerals by plants was not proportional to the absorption of water and roots differ in permeability to various solutes. Development of osmotic theory named 'osmotic hypothesis 'in the middle of 19th century by Dutrochet (1837) was a significant development in plant water relations. This hypothesis was used to explain a variety of phenomena including the escape of spores from sporangia and the water uptake by plants exhibiting root pressures. Pfeiffer (1877) for the first time measured accurately osmotic pressure, using the membranes of Traube (1867).

Sachs (1882a, b) made great breakthrough in the development of concepts in modern plant physiology as well as plant water relations. His findings were related with the effects of soil mixture, soil aeration, and soil temperature on water absorption and root growth.

In the 20th century, Brown and Escombe (1900) described diffusion of water through stomata to be a purely physical process. In 1914, Dixon published the "Transpiration and Ascent of Sap in Plants", which was a landmark in the study of water relations. Experiment by Stalfelt (1932) and Bange (1953) indicated that stomatal closure has a large effect on transpiration in moving air where boundary layer resistance is low.

The use of thermocouple psychrometers (Spanner, 1951; Monteith and Woen, 1958; Richards and Ogata, 1958) and pressure equilibration by (Scholander *et al.*, 1964) were the most important development in the water relation research that made the work easier and reliable. This method is widely used in the present context of water relation research by recent workers.

#### 2.2. Recent works

The availability of soil water to the roots and the status of energy determine the growth and development of plants. In an experiment with *Zea mays* L. and *Helianthus annuus* L. in drying soil Zhang and Davies (1990) observed that reduction in the rate of leaf expansion in response to moisture deficit in soil would be an effective mean of limiting water loss during a prolonged drought. They also reported increased translocation of abscissic acid (ABA) from roots exposed to drying soil. Thus they considered ABA as playing major role in root-shoot signaling.

Abrams (1990) reviewed eco physiological studies on the tissue water relationship of different species of *Quercus*, growing successfully in drought prone sites of North America and concluded that various morphological and physiological traits such as root depths, effective soil to leaf conductance and lowering of osmotic potentials (osmotic adjustment) during the dry periods facilitate their tolerance to drought.

When the availability of water in the soil gradually depleted, leaf growth abolishes before photosynthesis and respiration are affected, however roots continued to grow rapidly in the same plant at the same tissue  $\psi_w$  which probably served to reduce the development of new transpiration surface and increase the access to soil water (Kramer and Boyer, 1995). As the soil dries, changes in root metabolisms (such as increase in ABA production and disturbance of nitrogen metabolism) send biochemical signals to the shoots which produce physiological changes such as reduction in growth, stomatal conductance and rate of photosynthesis regardless of the water status of the leaves.

Pre-dawn  $\psi_w$  is an important reflection of the amount of soil moisture available to plants. Pre-dawn tree  $\psi_w$  of *Pinus contrata* and soil  $\psi_w$  having contrasting soil water properties were measured in 1984 by Fahey and Young. They found large difference between predawn tree  $\psi_w$  and soil  $\psi_w$  in coarser soil with low diffusivity of water. In studying water relation of ash (*Fraxinus excelsior*), Carlier *et al.*, (1992) found the predawn water potential to be close to the soil water potential at 30cm depth. They also found that the maximum stomatal conductance decreases as soil dries up. Similarly, a greenhouse experiment conducted by Wang *et al.*, (1998) on four birch (*Betula papyrifera*) populations determined soil moisture as the major factor affecting photosynthesis. Photosynthesis of trees in the low water and high nitrogen was about 45 percent of that in the high water and high nitrogen treatment.

In *Thuja occidentalis*, Edwards and Dixon (1995) observed significant lowering of water potential when subjected to drought. However, Thomas and Hartmann (1996) studied water relations in mature oak stands of North Germany and found that drying of soil had little impact in water relations of oaks. Fort *et al.*, (1998) concluded that short-term soil water depletion affecting only 50% of the root system did not show a measurable stress response in birch (*Betula pendula*) seedlings despite a growth cessation of roots in some part. In their study of influence of soil dryng on leaf  $\psi$ , photosynthesis, stomatal conductance and growth in black pine varieties, Franscois *et al.*, (1998) observed that these varieties exhibited drought avoidance strategy characterized by an efficient stomatal control of transpirational water loss.

Adhikari (2000) conducted a research on water relations of *Castanopsis tribuloides* (Sm.) A.DC. and found soil water potential to be lowered from mid-winter (January) to mid- summer (April). The lowest water potential was found in middle summer and highest in late monsoon. Whereas lowest diurnal change in leaf water potential was found in late summer (May) and highest in early summer and early monsoon.

Kolb and Stone (2000) comparatively studied gas exchange and water relations in Gambel oak (*Quercus gambelli* Nutt.) and ponderosa pine (*Pinus ponderosa* var. *scopulorum* Dougl. ex. Laws.) and observed higher predawn leaf  $\psi$ , stomatal conductance in oak than pine which they attributed to greater avoidance of water stress in oaks due to extensive rooting system.

Tewari (2000) observed the relation between predawn  $\psi$  and leaf canopy for two years in *Quercus leucotrichophora* and he found insignificantly higher  $\psi$  in the latter year when leafing was less as compared to former year, which he explained as thinning of canopy which brings about the changes in the internal water status of the whole plant. This work was in agreement with that of Williams *et al.*, (1997) in Australian savanna.

In a study carried out by Bhattarai (2001) in *Schima wallichii*, soil water potential, tree water potential, leaf water potential and stomatal conductance showed a good positive correlation among themselves, and to the seasonal variations. These

parameters showed their minimum values during March, which was the driest month during the study period.

The water conducting system and xylem hydraulic conductance is affected by plant water potential. Stout and Sala (2003) made an experiment and found lower predawn  $\psi$  in ponderosa pine (*Pinus ponderosa*) than Douglas-fir which was more vulnerable to cavitation than the latter.

Poudyal (2013) studied soil water potential ( $\psi_w$ ), predawn and midday leaf water potential ( $\psi_{Lpd}$  and  $\psi_{Lmd}$ ) and their relationship with stomatal conductance ( $g_w$ ) and phenological behavior in *Q. semecarpifolia* and found high  $\psi_{Lpd}$  and  $g_w$  despite low soil  $\psi_w$ . Patterns of  $\psi_{Lpd}$  and  $\psi_{Lmd}$  correlated significantly with soil  $\psi_w$  and phenology as  $\psi_{Lpd}$  often increased during leafing but not with  $g_w$ .

Poudyal (2014) found that the seasonal patterns of precipitation showed profound effect on average  $\psi_{pd}$ . The reason for lower  $\psi_{pd}$  than soil  $\psi$  in winter months, when ground herbaceous vegetation almost dried out might be due to low temperature that decreased water movement from the soil into the roots thus reducing plant  $\psi$ . Besides the occasional rise in  $\psi_{pd}$  during the phenologically active periods, plants depended on their stem water storage for the rehydration during phenological activities. A similar increase of  $\psi_{pd}$  in *C. indica* was reported by Poudyal *et al.*, (2004) when trees were trimmed. Lopped trees can have higher  $\psi_{pd}$  than undisturbed trees (Singh and Thompson, 1995).

According to Chand *et al.*, (2017), predawn water potential  $\psi_{pd}$  and midday water potential  $\psi_{md}$  showed a profound effect of precipitation on it and low value was observed during the dry summer month. Species at higher elevation faced more water stress than at lower elevation as shown by their low leaf  $\psi$ .

Collinson *et al.*, (1997) studied the effect of soil moisture deficit on the water relation of bambara ground nut (*Vigna subterrana*) and found that the plant was able to maintain turgor through a combination of osmotic adjustment, reduction in leaf area index and effective stomatal regulation of water loss.

Relationship between water deficit and transpirational demand is unlikely to be stable during water stress. Monterio *et al.*, (2018) concluded that the water potential in the

peach tree branch has a positive relationship with the evaporative demand until the end of the peach harvest and a negative relationship with the soil water shortage. Similarly, Carlson *et al.*, (1994) studied plant- soil water relation on forestry and silvipastoral system in Oregon, USA and found that grazing of understorey vegetation might reduce water stress of trees during dry periods by reducing transpirational water use by the forage plants. According to Dawson (1996) small trees had lower overall rates of water loss at leaf and canopy leaves than large trees.

Stomatal closure is a drought avoidance mechanism and this mechanism represents tradeoff between continued transpiration and photosynthetic activity (Levitt, 1972). Thus stomata have evolved as regulatory valves to minimize water loss for a given amount of carbon gained (Bradford and Hsiao, 1982).

Maier and Koch (1995) studied stomatal control and abscission of needles in spruce of Northern Alps and found the association of low leaf turgor values with shedding of green needles. The loss of stomatal control changed the drought avoidance abilities of the foliage and as a consequence, low turgor level occurred and premature needle abscission was induced.

Schiller and Cohen (1999) found that transpiration rate in pine dropped after last rain, the decrease being larger in smaller tree needles. Water potential at sunrise reduced from -0.8 MPa in the rainy season to more than -3.0 MPa during the dry season. Stomatal responses to water availability in soil, leaf and atmosphere are highly interactive and specific. Bond and Kavanagh (1999) studied four woody species and hypothesized that species differences in stomatal response to humidity and soil water availability can be explained by two parameters: leaf specific hydraulic conductance and threshold water potential. They constructed a simple hydraulic model based on these two parameters which predicted stomatal behavior that were similar to the published reports. Likewise, changes in water relations, gas exchange, and carbohydrates of white spruce seedling were studied by Wang and Zwiazek (1999). They observed that both net photosynthesis and stomatal conductance showed a significant linear relationship between net photosynthesis and stomatal conductance.

Lowenstein and Pallardy (1998) studied three deciduous trees (*Juglans nigra*, *Acer saccharum* and *Quercus alba*) in Missouri, USA and showed the pattern of water relations, xylem sap abscissic acid concentration and stomatal aperture. They observed a strong correlation among reduction in predawn leaf water potential, xylem sap abscissic acid concentration and stomatal closure in all species.

Naor (2001) studied interrelationships between water potential and stomatal conductance in *Pyrus communis* L. A high correlation was observed between stomatal conductance and leaf water potential ( $r^2=0.54$ ), but much better correlation was found with stem water potential ( $r^2=0.80$ ). Decreasing RWC of leaves progressively decreased stomatal conductance, slowing CO2 assimilation which eventually stopped, after which CO2 is evolved (Lawlor, 2002).

The osmotic potential of the plant determines relationship between water potential and relative water content, by the proportion of water in the plant that is outside the living cells and by the elasticity of the cell walls. As internal water balance of cells and tissues is the most important aspect of plant water relation, which is expressed in terms of turgidity. All other parameters of water relation are important because they affect internal water balance of trees and thereby modify the physiological process and condition, which affects growth (Kramer and Kozlowski, 1960).

Dreyer *et al.*, (1990) conducted Pressure volume analyses on leafy shoots of 4 European oak species (*Quercus robur*, *Q. petraea*, *Q. pubescens* and *Q. ilex*) in order to determine the relationship between leaf water potential, average osmotic potential and volume averaged turgor. They found that tolerance to drought appeared to be related more to the ability to osmotically adjust in response to changes in environment rather than to the absolute values of full turgor.

Reed (2001) evaluates the osmotic potentials at various canopy positions and found that the older and taller trees are osmotically regulating themselves in order to maintain turgor. The cells appear to be adjusting their water status by synthesizing osmotically active solutes, which reduces  $\Psi_s$  and therefore helps to maintain turgor.

Martinez *et al.*, (2007) reported that osmotic adjustment which increases the osmotic force thus promoting water absorption is known as an effective mechanism of drought resistance and it provides a mean of maintaining cell wall water status. Similarly,

Zlatev and Lidon (2012) observed that the changes in elasticity of cell wall (elastic adjustment) in response to drought can modify the relationship between turgor pressure and cell volume that may contribute to drought tolerance. Likewise, Poudyal (2013) reported that elastic adjustment is more important for drought resistance than osmotic adjustment as higher elasticity indicates greater fundamental ability to shrink when dehydrated although both elastic and osmotic adjustment are important strategy to maintain turgor during drought stress. It was found that *S. wallichi* maintained turgor by both elastic and osmotic adjustment whereas *Q. semecarpifolia* only displayed osmotic adjustment to survive in the drought prone Himalayas.

Sailendra and Meinzer (1991) observed solute accumulation and increased elasticity as leaf water deficits developed more slowly during soil drying, in their work in droughted sugarcane. This osmotic and elastic adjustment maintained symplast volume essentially constant both diurnally and during soil drying, whereas turgor was only partially maintained. The extent of osmotic adjustment associated with drought was not reflected in the leaf  $\psi_{sf}$  because the concurrent increase in tissue elasticity resulted in a larger symplast volume at full turgor.

Premachandra *et al.*, (1992) observed osmotic adjustment in four *Sorghum bicolar* L. Moench cultivars under water deficit conditions. Lower  $\psi_s$  enabled plants to maintain turgor and decreased the sensitivity of turgor dependent process. The cultivars, which maintained higher turgor and higher osmotic adjustment under water deficit conditions, were identified as drought tolerant.

Fan *et al.*, (1994) made a comparative study of the role of osmotic and elastic adjustments in turgor maintenance of different woody species: jack pine (*Pinus banksiana*), black spruce (*Picea mariana* Mill.) and flooded gum (*Eucalyptus grandis* W. Hill) and found jack pine to lose turgor at the lowest relative water content (75-60%) and water potential among the three species and suggested a high inherent drought tolerance than the other two species.

Zobel *et al.*, (1995) studied agriculturally related disturbance in stand of *Quercus leucotrichophora* and showed lower specific area, higher predawn water potential, and larger level of disturbance as compared to lowest level.

In addition to water relation parameters and strategies that plant uses (eg. osmotic and elastic adjustment) to neutralize drought stress, plants have evolved many physiological, morphological, anatomical and phenological characteristics for responding to and resisting drought stress (Auge *et al.*, 1998).

Niinemets (2001) concluded that osmotic adjustment of leaf water relations is inherently limited, and that elastic adjustment resulting from changes in leaf structure may be a more important and general way for plants to adapt to water-limited environments. Zimmermann *et al.*, (2002) reviewed that pressure gradients, pressure potentials, ion concentration, volume of flow as well as turgor pressure gradient were the major driving forces for water lifting in the xylem conduit.

Water movement in plant takes place along the water potential gradient by diffusion from cell to cell (short distance transport) and by conduction (long distance transport) through the xylem and is transported in the xylem under tension (Dixon and Joly, 1894). Water transport through the xylem is essential to replace water loss during transpiration, thus avoiding desiccation and allowing photosynthesis. According to the study of Waring and Running (1978), the hydraulic conductivity has higher value for trunk than for branches and particularly low in second order branches and at branch insertions (Ewers and Zimmermann, 1984). It is controlled by wood anatomical features; water absorbed by root is transported to leaf through xylem. Hydraulic structure and its embolism have significant influence on drought tolerance. Wider conduits are more vulnerable to cavitation than narrower conduits. Although this relationship seems to be uncertain when different species and taxa are compared, it appears to be valid within one species (Tyree and Ewers, 1991).

According to Han and Kim (1996), the relative hydraulic conductance increases with decreasing diameter of the stem and branches. Leaf specific conductivity and specific conductivity decreased with decreasing diameter but Huber value slowly increased with decreasing diameter. Likewise, Tyree and Cochard (1996) examined summer and winter embolism in oak and its impact in water relation. They observed that the impact of embolism was reduction in hydraulic conductivity in the vascular system. Oaks seemed to operate close to the point of xylem dysfunction but they protected themselves against embolism by stomatal regulation which kept water potential above that causing runaway embolism.

Zwieniecki and Holbrook (1998) reported that xylem conductance decreases during the day and increases in the night so the sampling time may also be a reason for low or high hydraulic conductance beside the size of the stem diameter.

Hubbard *et al.*, (1999) observed the effect of xylem conductance on photosynthetic rate and productivity and proposed that decrease in net photosynthesis rate during tree maturation was due to decreased xylem hydraulic conductance.

Strong positive correlation between leaf specific conductivity and maximum photosynthetic capacity was observed by Broddrib and Field (2000) suggesting that maximum photosynthetic rate was constrained by their vascular supply. The leaf specific conductivity of conifer wood overlap broadly with that of associated vessel bearing and vessel-less angiosperms indicating a degree of hydraulic convergence in co-existing plants. Poudyal *et al.*, (2003) found that high  $H_v$  and  $K_s$  value showed highest capacity to supply water to the leaf in Oaks.

The occurrence of cavitation and embolism due to drought would impair the transport of water, especially to the leaves (Li *et al.*, 2009). During periods of drought, due to the lower soil water potential and the high evapotranspiration in the leaves, the probability of embolism is higher, resulting in the death of the plants (Brodribb and Cochard, 2009). According to Choat *et al.*, (2012), drought-induced embolism is recognized as one of the main precursors of the death of woody plants.

Leaf structure character influences leaf energy and water balance. Leaf thickness and mass per unit area (SLM) were higher in early and middle successional species than in late successional species which may have contributed to increase drought tolerance (Abrams and Kubiske, 1990 and Abrams *et al.*, 1994). Longer photosynthetic period probably compensates for the high energy cost of evergreen leaves, with their high SLM (Kikuzawa, 1995). Wilson *et al.*, (1999) reported that high SLM leaves worked better in resource poor environments where retention of captured resource was a higher priority, while low SLM leaves worked best in resource rich environment, and short lived and vulnerable to herbivory. Poudyal *et al.*, (2012b) monitored SLM in *C. indica* and *S. wallichii* and found increased value of SLM when leaves were fully developed and decreased when leaf senescence started with great damages in leaves.

Such increase in SLM as leaves expanded was assigned to the increased thickness of palisade parenchyma by them.

The ability of plants to tolerate water deficits has been frequently attributed to their capacity for osmotic adjustments through accumulation of organic compounds such as amino acids or soluble carbohydrates. Epron and Dreyer (1996) suggested that large increase in soluble carbohydrates contributes in the osmotic adjustment of oaks (*Q. petraea* Matt. Liebl.). They studied four-year old potted saplings of *Quercus petraea* (Matt.) Liebl, which were exposed to water shortage by withholding irrigation. After 10 days, predawn leaf water potential was decreased to -2.0 Mpa and leaf photosynthesis was reduced by 55%. At this stage, starch and sucrose concentrations were decreased by 47% and 48% respectively. Zobel (1996b) used twig starch level as an index of tree stress in forest at Kumaun, India. He concluded that starch in twig near the time of bud break was a useful key of forest health.

Phenological events of the plants are good indicators of climatic differences which manifest very decisively to the environmental factors. Water stress is a precursor inducing phenological activities during summer drought. Hinckely *et al.*, (1979) studied the effect of drought on phenology, growth and physiological processes, as well as the water relations of white Oak (*Quercus alba* L.), and eight other species in oak hickory forest. They found that growth was reduced, die-back increased, net photosynthesis rate depressed to near the compensation point and phenological patterns in the next year were altered.

Phenological development is related to tree water status during leaf expansion (Meinzer *et al.*, 1983). Phenology and seasonal variations in water stress was studied by Reich and Borchert (1984) in numerous trees of twelve species for 1 year, growing at dry and moist sites in a tropical lowland deciduous forest in Guanacaste, Costa Rica. They observed that the seasonal pattern of tree development had a high correlation with seasonal variation in tree water status, but only indirectly with environmental water availability. They observed that, the timing of leaf falls and bud break and, in many species, reversal was determined to a large extent by changes in tree water status. They found no evidence for the control of tree development by seasonal variation in photoperiod or temperature.

Ralhan *et al.*, (1985) studied the phenology of trees in Kumaon Himalayas between 350 and 2150 m a.s.l.. For most species (including all dominants) most of the leaf drop and simultaneous leafing occurred during the warm-dry period of the year.

Rambal and Leterme (1987) observed that *Quercus coccifera* adjusted to water availability along a precipitation gradient mainly by decreasing whole exposed plant leaf area. Wang *et al.*, (1992) presented strong evidences in support of functional linkage of foliar phenology on tree water relations as they observed a significant correlation between the timing of late winter senescence and the hydraulic properties.

Borchert (1994a, b, c) made an extensive research on phenomorphological variations of tropical dry forest trees of Guanacaste, Costa Rica and found that seasonal variation in rainfall controls the phenological activities such as shoot growth, flowering and senescence in individual trees. Leaf shedding, flowering and shoot growth (flushing) were strongly correlated with seasonal changes in tree water status. Further, phenology and water storage capacity of tree species are highly correlated.

Many Neotropical dry forests are characterized by a predominance of trees that lose their leaves for a substantial portion of the year. Low soil moisture and high evaporative demand during the dry season mean that evergreen species in tropical deciduous forests must make substantial structural investments to supply water at high rates to their leaves. Evergreen species have deeper roots, higher leaf mass per area, and greater investment in xylem transport capacity than co-occurring deciduous species (Holbrook et al., 1995). Similarly, Reich (1995) studied the phenology of tropical forests and found that tropical forests may vary in sensitivity to predicted climate change. Phenology of rain forests should change little unless water balance changes markedly and developmental events in rain forests may be relatively insensitive to moderate changes in CO2 or temperature. Phenology of dry forests could be more sensitive, and in opposite directions, to elevated CO2 and temperatures. Elevated CO2 might delay the onset of leaf shedding and stimulate longer life span if stand level transpiration is reduced, whereas higher temperatures could lead to more rapid water depletion, longer leafless periods, and more strongly synchronized phenology.

Williams-Linera (1997) recorded leaf fall, leaf flush, flowering, and fruiting of 107 individuals belonging to twelve deciduous and twelve broadleaved evergreen species and found that foliar phenological patterns varied between deciduous and evergreen species. According to Singh and Kushwaha (2005), duration of deciduousness in tropical trees is related to leafing patterns and resource use rates. Vegetative and flowering phenology of trees in dry tropics is primarily affected by the periodicity of rainfall and soil water availability.

Similarly, Poudyal *et al.*, (2012b) studied that the phenological processes such as leaf drop, leaf emergence, flowering and fruiting occurred in the dry summer months of central Himalayan evergreen tree species. They found that water stress was the precursor including phenological activities in the plant during dry summer.

Poudyal *et al.*, (2012b) studied phenological responses to drought of five evergreens Himalayan trees namely *Castanopsis indica*, *Schima wallichii*, *Rhododendron arboreum*, *Quercus lanata* and *Q. semecarpifolia* and found that reserved starch percentage had a strong effect on phenological activities. It increased during the vegetative bud break and leaf emergence due to accumulation of reserved carbohydrates and decreased during senescence indicating hydrolysis of photosynthates into soluble carbohydrates.

According to Poudyal (2013), *Quercus semecarpifolia* has the longest leaf emergence and expansion period that raised predawn leaf  $\psi_w$  during the period of maximum leaf expansion. Such increase in predawn leaf  $\psi_w$  agrees with Reich and Borchert's (1984) hypothesis that states that phenomorphology varies as a consequences of differences in water availability and changes in internal water status.

Poudyal (2014) studied phenological shifts in response to drought and found that *Castanopsis indica* showed an incessant senescence (November to April) in the third year with low osmotic potentials, in agreement to Nilsen and Muller's (1981) findings; which state that leaf abscission is a morphological response to substantial drought.

Tewari *et al.*, (2016) elucidated that not only temperature but also rainfall periodicity, soil moisture and the related changes of twig  $\psi_w$  in winter and early spring are important drivers of bud expansion and flowering in *Rhododendron arboreum* in central Himalayas. Flower bud size increment was related with increase in twig  $\psi_w$
and soil moisture. Based on their results, they concluded that water availability plays an important role in inducing flowering in *R. arboreum*.

# **CHAPTER 3: MATERIAL AND METHODS**

## 3.1. Study Area

Shivapuri Nagarjun National Park (SNNP) is located in the country's mid-hills on the northern fringe of the Kathmandu valley and lies about 12 km away from the center of capital city. In 1976, the area was established as a protected watershed & wildlife reserve. In 2002, it was gazetted as Shivapuri National Park, initially covering 144 km<sup>2</sup> (Bhuju et al., 2007) and was extended by the Nagarjun Forest Reserve covering 15 km<sup>2</sup> in 2009 (Pandey, 2010). Geographically Shivapuri forest is located within 27°45' to 27°52' N latitude and 85°16' to 85°45' E longitude. The park covers an area of 144 km<sup>2</sup> stretching about 9km from north-south and about 20 to 24 km east-west. This park claims part of Kathmandu, Nuwakot, Dhading and Sindhupalchowk districts of Nepal. The elevation range is 1350m above sea level to 2732m above sea level. This park is the source of high quality drinking water. The Shivapuri areas provide about 1 million cubic liter of water per day (DNPWC, 2003). It is the watershed of Bagmati, Bishnumati, Nagmati, Syalmati, Sanikhola, Thulikhola and Allekhola. The most important objective of establishing the Shivapuri Nagarjun National Park is to increase the supply of high quality drinking water through the conservation and rehabilitation of the watershed and its flora and fauna. The park area extends over 23 Village Development Committees (VDCs) of three administrative districts of Nepal namely Kathmandu, Nuwakot and Sindhupalchowk of Bagmati Zone.

The study sites were confined at the ranges of 1640 m for *C. tribuloides* and 1655 m for *Q. leucotrichophora* in the south facing slopes. The pre-requisites for choosing the site were:

- Easily accessible
- Natural forest with minimal disturbance
- Adequate number of selected species dominant in the canopy and with desirable size-class for sampling.



Figure 1: Map of the study area

# 3.1.1. Geology and Topography

Geologically, SNNP lies in the Inner Himalayan region. The dominant rocks of the area contain metamorphic rocks such as Gneiss, Phyllite, Limestone and Dolomite which are loamy on the northern aspect and sandy on the southern aspect (Shrestha, 2012). Entire area is characterized by its steep mountainous topography, more than half of the land has slopes greater than 30 degree (Sigdel *et al.*, 2015). Soil erosion and watershed degradation problems are severe in several spots inside the park and surrounding area. Degree of the problems is higher to the northern slopes than the southern slope. Due to dense vegetation and high humus deposits the nutrients in the soil are very high and the runoff rate is relatively slow in the Shivapuri forest but the runoff rate was very fast in the degraded forest (Shrestha, 2015).

#### 3.1.2. Climate

The park is located in a transition zone between subtropical and temperate climate. The region has seasonal climate with rainy monsoon seasons (June to September), cool dry winter (October to February) and hot dry summer (March to May). For the study, climatic data were collected from Department of Hydrology and Meteorology, Babarmahal, Kathmandu, Nepal. The maximum rainfall was recorded in July i.e. 485.4 mm and the minimum precipitation of 19.1 mm were recorded in January in 2019. Precipitation was zero during October and November in 2019. In the year 2019, June had maximum average temperature 30.7°C. By observing the data in table, minimum temperature 3.6°C was found in January.



Figure 2: Ombrothermic graph for the year 2019.

# 3.1.3. Vegetation

The vegetation of SNNP consists of a variety of natural forest types, depending on altitude and aspects. The dominant vegetation in the park area is *Castanopsis*, *Pinus*, *Quercus* and *Rhododendron* species. The vegetation within the park is broadly divided into two zones, subtropical and temperate zone (Chaudhary, 1998). The Subtropical zone consists of *Schima-Castanopsis* and *Pinus roxburghii* forest up to 2000

m asl. The dominant tree species in the Schima-Castanopsis forest are Schima wallichii, Castanopsis indica, C. tribuloides and common associates are Prunus cerasoides, Albizia julibrissin, Engelhardia spicata, Alnus nepalensis and Quercus glauca. Pinus roxburghi forest is dominant on southern slope below 1600 m asl. At higher elevation (2000-2732m), mixed temperate broad leaved oak forests are found. Quercus lanata is dominant at lower belt (1900-2200m asl.) and Quercus semecarpifolia near the summit (2200-2732m asl.). Species like Rhododendron arboreum, Lyonia ovalifolia, Myrica esculenta & Lindera nacussia are common associated of oak forests.

#### **3.1.4.** Species characteristics

*Quercus leucotrichophora* A. Camus is an evergreen tree growing up to a height of 15-25m belonging to Fagaceae family commonly known as Banjh oak (Forestry Nepal, 2014). In Nepal, it is commonly found at an altitudinal range of 1500-2700 m in forested areas in association with *Rhododendron arboreum* (Manandhar, 2002), *Lyonia ovalifolia, Myrica esculenta* (Thadani and Ashton, 1995). It bears stalked, ovate to lanceolate, acuminate, serrate, leathery, and dark green leaves which are glabrous above and densely white or gray pubescent beneath. It flowers in April to May and fruits in August to October. Male flowers are slender and drooping spikes. Female spikes are sessile and axillary. An acorn is solitary (Manandhar, 2002). The Banjh oak is one of the most useful trees of Himalaya. The leaves are mostly used as a cattle fodder. The timber is used for agricultural implements but is not particularly valuable as it is hard to work. Many types of leaf galls are found in the tree caused by different types of insects. The galls on the leaves are a natural source of gallic acid, a potential anti tumoral agent (Patni *et al.*, 2012).

*Castanopsis tribuloides* (Sm.) A. Dc. is a medium sized evergreen tree that belongs to family Fagaceae growing around 12- 18 m tall. It is found in east, central as well as western Nepal at elevations up to 1800 m in the Himalayas. It is common in sub-tropical forests. The tolerably straight, cylindrical bole can be 60 cm in diameter and free of branches for up to 12 m (tropical.theferns.info, retrieved on 2021-01-09). It is in leaf all year. Flowering occurs from May to June, and the seeds ripen from October to November. The species is monoecious in nature (individual flowers are

either male or female, but both sexes can be found on the same plant) and is pollinated by wind. (<u>www.pfaf.org</u>, retrieved on 2021-01-09).

## 3.1.5. Human activities

Occasional cutting down of branches of tree species as for fodder & firewood had been observed. Similarly, grazing of domestic animals were the common activities found within studied area. However, tree species were normally undisturbed may be being the protected area.

### 3.2. Methodology

*Castanopsis tribuloides* (Sm) A. Dc. and *Quercus leucotrichophora* A. Camus were taken as experimental plants. At first six trees, three of each species of *C. tribuloides* and *Q. leucotrichophora* were marked in the study sites for the measurements. Measurements of different water relation parameters such as specific leaf mass (SLM), starch estimation, twig conductance, pressure-volume (P-V) curve analysis, soil moisture content and phenological development such as leaf initiation, leaf maturation, flowering, fruiting, senescence, etc. were estimated. Estimation of reserved starch and phenological observation was done in the field whereas the osmotic potential of tissues, its elasticity and relative water content at zero turgor of collected samples were determined by analyzing the PV- curves in the laboratory. Twig conductance and specific leaf mass (SLM) were also measured in the laboratory using samples collected in the field. For all parameters studied, three replicate plants were taken and measurements were carried out in the marked trees on monthly basis throughout the study which started from 2019/02/ 04 to 2020/01/28.

#### 3.2.1. Soil moisture content

At first, 100 grams of soil samples were collected from the base of selected plants at 15cm and 30 cm depth from the area around 1 m of the plant. Immediately, the soil samples were kept in air tight plastic bag after taking out from the dig. Then the samples were carried to the laboratory and the following procedure was carried out:

a. At first, the collected soil samples were filtered from impurities like stone, pebbles, etc. About 50 gm of soil was weighed.

b. Soil samples were kept in a dry oven at temperature of 70-80°C for about 48 hours.

c. The dry weights of soil samples were taken after 48 hours when they were completely dry.

d. Soil moisture content of each sample was measured as follows:

Soil moisture content (SMC %) =  $\frac{(\text{Fresh weight}-\text{Dry weight})}{\text{Dry weight}} \times 100\%$ 

## **3.2.2. Pressure Volume Analysis**

Pressure volume (P-V) analysis was performed using the pressure chamber by free bench/transpiration technique (Pallardy *et al.*, 1991). P-V curves were used to determine the relationship between water potential and relative water content (RWC) which helped to determine several properties of plant that may affect its water relation.

Curves were analyzed graphically by plotting the inverse of balance pressure (1/BP) over relative water content (RWC) of the foliage or the volume of water expressed. Subject to certain assumptions, the resultant relationship displayed a linear and a non-linear region. A straight edge was used to help judge where the linear region ended and a line was drawn through the points in the linear region. This line represented the inverse osmotic potential at various water contents and the Y-intercept was an estimate of the inverse osmotic potential at full saturation.



Plate 1: Pressure Chamber fitted with nitrogen gas cylinder.

#### **3.2.3.** P-V Theory

The water potential is determined by several components important for cells and their surroundings. Following Gibbs (1931), water potential ( $\psi_w$ ) is given by

$$\psi_{\rm w} = \psi_{\rm s} + \psi_{\rm p} + \psi_{\rm m} + \psi_{\rm g} \tag{4.1}$$

where the subscripts s, p, m and g represent the effect of solute, pressure porous, matrices and gravity respectively. These components affect  $\psi_w$  in specific ways. Dissolved solutes lower the chemical potential of water by diluting the water and decreasing the number of water molecules able to move compared to the reference, pure water. In a similar way, matrices that are wet table have surface attractions that decrease the number of water molecules able to move. External pressure above atmospheric increases the ability of water to move but below atmospheric decreases it. Gravity similarly increases or decreases the ability of water to move depending on whether local pressure is increased or decreased by the weight of water.

In the case of cells, the gravitational potential can be ignored because they become significant only at heights greater than 1 m in vertical water columns, as in trees. In this case the equation 4.1 becomes

$$\psi_{\rm w} = \psi_{\rm s} + \psi_{\rm p} + \psi_{\rm m} \quad (4.2)$$

At its simplest, the cell consists of two compartments: the protoplast or symplast inside and external solution or apoplast outside. The equation (4.2) is then applied to each compartment. The protoplast contains a solution under pressure (turgor) applied by the walls. The protoplast water potential is then

$$\psi_{w(p)} = \psi_{s(p)} + \psi_{p(p)} \tag{4.3}$$

where the subscript (p) denotes the protoplast compartment. The  $\psi_m$  can be ignored because the water content generally is high and there are no air-water interfaces.

The apoplast contains a solution in the porous cell wall subjected to local pressures generated by surface effects of the wall matrix. The apoplast water potential is

 $\psi_{w(a)} = \psi_{s(a)} + \psi_{m(a)}(4.4)$ 

where the subscript (a) denotes the apoplast compartment. The  $\psi_p$  can be ignored because the external pressure is atmospheric. For flows commonly present, water potential differences across membranes are so small that a near equilibrium (local equilibrium) exists between the protoplast and its cell wall (Molz and Ferrier, 1982). So it is assumed that

$$\psi_{\mathrm{W}(a)} = \psi_{\mathrm{W}(p)} \tag{4.5}$$

Substituting Equations (4.3) and (4.4) in Equation (4.5) gives:

$$\psi_{s(a)} + \psi_{m(a)} = \psi_{s(p)} + \psi_{p(p)}$$
(4.6)

Pressurization in pressure chamber raises the cell  $\psi_w$  above that of the xylem, and water flows into the xylem. By adjusting the pressure, the flow can be stopped when water just fills the xylem and a flat film appears on the cut surface. This balancing pressure (BP) exactly relieves the tension that had been acting on the xylem solution. The negative of BP thus measures the tension in the apoplast, i.e.  $\psi_{m(a)}$ .

$$-BP = \psi_{m(a)} \tag{4.7}$$

Substituting Equation (4.6) in Equation (4.3)

$$\psi_{\mathrm{W}(\mathrm{a})} = \psi_{\mathrm{s}(\mathrm{a})} - \mathrm{BP} \tag{4.8}$$

As the pressurization removes water out of the cells, the solution in the walls is diluted and its  $\psi_s$  approaches zero (Boyer, 1995). Thus the equation becomes

$$\psi_{\mathrm{W}(a)} = -\mathrm{BP} \tag{4.9}$$

From Equations (4.3), (4.5) and (4.9)

$$-\mathbf{BP} = \psi_{s(p)} + \psi_{p(p)} \tag{4.10}$$

Thus during PV analysis, the negative of measured BP is the sum value of osmotic potential and turgor pressure of protoplasts.

#### 3.2.4. Balance Pressure Measurement

The 'bench-drying' method for pressure-volume (P-V) curve analysis was implemented by using a pressure chamber (PMS Instruments, Corvallis, Oregon) with a limit of 7 MPa and free transpiration technique (Pallardy *et al.*, 1991).

To produce P-V curve, water content and water potential of twigs were measured simultaneously and repeatedly where water content was expressed as RWC and the water potential as the balance pressure (BP) with negative sign.

For drawing P-V curves, leafy twigs were collected from the experimental plants and cut end of twigs were immediately dipped in water for the avoidance of embolism. The samples were covered with plastic bags to reduce the transpiration and kept for rehydration at least for 24 hours that allowed absorbing water under condition of minimum transpiration and water potential became less than 0.3 bars (Zobel, 1996a).

The twig was cut to a size appropriate to pressure chamber. Leaf surface was made dry by soaking with tissue paper, any dead and loose parts were removed, and the bark was stripped from the cut end. The cut end of twig was inserted and then fitted into the cork and weight (twig + cork) was taken and finally BP was measured. Time, mass and BP was recorded. After each reading, the twig was left for drying in the air by hanging in an open area so as to allow free transpiration. After an interval of time (usually 5-10 min in first few readings, then 30 min of interval and finally up to one hour in later readings) the measurements of mass and BP were repeated. The measurement was continued till the leaf completely wilted or no exudation came from the twigs. After the sample was completely dehydrated, it was removed from the cork and the cork was weighed. The twigs were dried at 80° C for about 24 hours and dry weight of the twigs was recorded. For each measurement of BP and fresh weight the relative water content (RWC) was calculated using the formula:

RWC (%) = 
$$\frac{F-D}{S-D} \times 100\%$$

Where,

RWC= Relative Water Content

F =sample + cork weight for each time

S = sample + cork weight for initial measurement (saturation weight).

D = dry weight + cork weight

## 3.3. Components of Plant Water Potential

# **3.3.1.** Osmotic potential ( $\Psi_s$ )

According to Kramer and Boyer (1995),  $\Psi_s$  approximates  $-RT^*$  n/V, where R is the gas constant, T is temperature and n/V is the molar concentration of solutes.

Thus,

$$\frac{1}{\Psi s} = \frac{-V}{nRT}$$

Where, n represents number of mole solutes and V is the volume of cell.

In turgor less tissue,

$$\frac{-1}{\mathrm{BP}} = \frac{-\mathrm{V}}{\mathrm{nRT}}$$

Or,

$$\frac{1}{\text{BP}} = \frac{\text{V}}{\text{nRT}}$$

After pressurization the water moves out from the cell thus affecting V but the number of solutes n remains the same. As T and n are constant, nRT is constant. Thus, graph of 1/BP over V becomes linear. A linear portion in P-V curve represents changes in  $\Psi_s$  along with cell volume. The linear portion and its regression line was used to calculate  $\Psi_s$  at full turgor (at a point where the extrapolation of linear portion meets the abscissa) and at zero turgor (at a point where the curve meets linear).

#### **3.3.2.** Relative water content at zero turgor

Relative water content (RWC) was calculated from PV curve. At the point where P-V curve becomes linear (turgor less point), RWC at zero turgor was determined. RWC was calculated using formula:

RWC (%) =  $\frac{\text{present weight of sample-dry weight}}{\text{weight of sample at full saturation-dry weight}} \times 100\%$ 

#### **3.3.3. Index of elasticity (ε)**

Elasticity of the cell wall determines the rate of change of turgor pressure of a cell with respect to changes in water. Elastic modulus ( $\varepsilon$ ) of a twig can be calculated from P-V relation. The index of elasticity ( $\varepsilon$ ) is defined as the change in  $\Psi_p$  for a given fractional change in the weight of symplastic water (Tyree, 1981; Tyree and Jarvis, 1982). To calculate the  $\varepsilon$ , all values of  $\Psi_p$  above zero turgor were plotted against RWC; the slope of a linear regression line through these points was used as  $\varepsilon$ .

In few samples 'Plateaus' occurred. The 'plateaus' are apparently associated with apoplastic water that is accumulated in the intercellular spaces of leaf near full turgidity, and act to buffer changes in the leaf xylem pressure potential as tissue dehydrates (Parker and Pallardy, 1987). A plateau from either natural or artificial rehydration violates the requirements of constant apoplastic water content and causes an abnormally rapid decrease in RWC relative to that in (Parker and Pallardy, 1987). It is reported that the presence of plateaus or 'free water' in the region of high  $\Psi_p$ where tree  $\Psi_w$  remains stable or declines only slightly with tissue dehydration (Bahari *et al.*, 1985). Data sets with plateaus were corrected by assuming that the beginning of the steep decline in water potential ( $\Psi_w$ ) represented full turgor (Zobel, 1996a).

## **3.3.4.** Index of desiccation tolerance (IDT)

An index of desiccation (IDT) can estimate the net effect of RWC at turgor loss (RWC<sub>z</sub>), osmotic potential at zero turgor ( $\Psi_{sz}$ ) and high tissue elasticity, in which tissue can vary in different ways. IDT was computed using these three tissue properties that conifer desiccation tolerance: low RWC<sub>z</sub>,  $\Psi_{sz}$  and high tissue elasticity ( $\epsilon$ ) (Lambers *et al.*, 1998). The lowest end of the range of RWC<sub>z</sub>,  $\Psi_{sz}$  and low  $\epsilon$  was assigned a relative value of 100, indicating high tolerance while high end of range was allocated 0 indicating low tolerance. Each parameter was assigned a score (0-100) based on its relationship to maximal and minimal values and hence taken as relative values. The IDT was calculated using mean values of RWC<sub>z</sub>,  $\Psi_{sz}$  and  $\epsilon$  as follow:

$$IDT = \frac{\text{relative } \epsilon + \text{relative } RWCz + \text{relative } \Psi sz}{3}$$

#### **3.4. Twig Conductance**

Different attributes of twig conductance i.e. Huber value, hydraulic conductance, specific conductance and leaf specific conductance were measured in the sampled trees based on the methods described by Ewers and Cruiziat (1991).

For the measurement of xylem conductance, about 2 years' old twigs were cut from all the experimental plants and dipped immediately in water by its cut end and was carried to the laboratory. About 15 cm of straight portion of stem without leaf was cut under water and bark at the basal end of the twig was removed. Then, it was attached to plastic tube connected with reservoir containing oxalic acid (0.1 M, 1.26 g/l) solution. The segment was allowed to remain vertical till the solution started to drop from the free end (i.e. upper end). Paraffin was used to check the leakage, if any.

For the measurement of flow rate, the twig segment was held horizontally at the measured distance from the reservoir level. A vial containing loosely packed tissue paper was weighed. The rate of flow was calculated taking difference in weight of vial before and after the flow. The process was repeated until nearly constant flow rate was obtained. Leaves beyond the mid-point of the segment were taken and the leaf area was calculated by multiplying the length, breadth and coefficient factor. The sample was then transferred to another tube with 0.1 saffranin solution. The valve was opened and the flow was permitted until both the ends of the twig stained. Then length of twig, upper and lower diameter of twigs as well as upper and lower diameter of pith was measured using vernier caliper, scale and magnifying lens. The percentage of effective xylem was estimated taking thin transverse section of twig at middle point of stem by means of hand lens.



**Plate 2:** Measurement of flow rate of twig using oxalic acid and measurement of staining xylem using saffranin.

Then all the parameters of xylem conductance were calculated using following given formula:

# 3.4.1. Pressure gradient

Pressure gradient is the change of pressure (especially of fluid) per unit distance. It describes in which direction and at what rate pressure is changing around the location. It was calculated using the formula:

Pressure gradient (Pg) (kPa/mm) =  $\frac{\text{pressure head(cm)}}{10.2\text{kPa/cm}} \times \frac{1}{\text{length of segment(mm)}}$ 

# 3.4.2. Effective xylem area (AwE)

The effective xylem area was calculated by using following formula:

 $A_{WE}$  (mm<sup>2</sup>) = Average Xylem Area \* Percentage of Stained Xylem.....(1)

Average Xylem Area (mm<sup>2</sup>) 
$$=\frac{\pi}{8} \times (dlw2 - dlp2 + dsw2 - dsp2).....(2)$$

Where,

d<sub>lw</sub>= diameter of large end wood

d<sub>lp</sub>= diameter of large end pith

d<sub>sw</sub>= diameter of small end wood

d<sub>sp</sub>= diameter of small end pith

# 3.4.3. Huber Value (H<sub>v</sub>)

Huber value ( $H_v$ ) named after Huber (1928) is defined as the ratio of sapwood area divided by the amount of leaf surface area distal to the stem segment (Ewers, 1985). Sap wood area means wood cross-sectional area.

 $Huber Value (H_v) = \frac{average xylem area}{leaf area}$ 

Where, leaf area =  $l \times b \times x$ 

Here, l = length of leaves; b = breadth of leaves and x = coefficient factor i. e. x = 0.654 (Adhikari, 2000) for *Castanopsis tribuloides*.

# 3.4.4. Hydraulic conductivity (K<sub>h</sub>)

Hydraulic conductivity ( $K_h$ ) is equal to the ratio between water flux through an excised stem segment and to pressure gradient causing the flow (Tyree and Ewers, 1996).

 $K_h(Kg\ m\ s^{-1}MPa^{-1}) \mathop{=}\limits_{pressure\ gradient}^{flow\ rate}$ 

# 3.4.5. Specific Conductivity (Ks)

Specific conductivity ( $K_s$ ) is a measure of the porosity of wood which is equal to  $K_h$  divided by the sapwood cross-sectional area (Tyree and Ewers, 1996).

 $K_s \left( kg \ m^{-1}s^{-1}MPa^{-1} \right) = \!\! \frac{hydraulic \ conductivity}{effective \ xylem \ area}$ 

# 3.4.6. Leaf specific Conductivity (K<sub>l</sub>)

Leaf specific Conductivity  $(K_l)$  is equal to hydraulic conductivity  $(K_h)$  divided by leaf area distal to the segment  $(A_l)$ .

 $K_l \left( kg \ m^{-1}s^{-1}MPa^{-1} \right) = \!\! \frac{hydraulic \ conductivity}{leaf \ area}$ 

#### 3.4.7. Specific Leaf Mass (SLM)

For the measurement of SLM, healthy leaves were taken from the twigs that were carried to the laboratory. The length and breadth of the leaves were measured. Then, area of the leaves was calculated by multiplying length, breadth and coefficient factor of the leaves. Then the leaves were oven dried at 80° C for at least 24 hours, and dry mass were measured. SLM was calculated using the following formula:

 $SLM = \frac{\text{leaf dry weight}}{\text{leaf area}}$ 

## 3.5. Twig Starch Content

Starch estimation in 0 and 1 year old twigs was done by using 1% iodine potassium iodide solution following Zobel (1996b). 0-year refers to current year and 1-year refers to last year's twig. Three twig segments of about 5 cm long were collected from each numbered trees of the sampled species in the field. Immediately after that, from each twig 2-3 cm length was cut and split longitudinally through the pith with the help of blade. The split portion was flooded with iodine solution. After 30-45 seconds, it was washed by water. By observing the black color stained in the pith, starch was estimated using a hand lens. By the strength of color stained in the twig, percentage of starch was evaluated.

# 3.6. Phenology

The phenological observations were done in each marked tree as well as in nonsampled trees of the same species for every month's field visit. Twigs were marked in each tree. In each twig, leaves were selected and marked for the observation of any change. The twigs were further observed for leaf fall, leaf flushing, bud break, shoot elongation, flowering and fruiting. Phenological events were tabulated for each month. In every field visit the length and breadth of leaves were measured and the obtained values were multiplied by coefficient factor to calculate leaf area.

### 3.7. Statistical Analysis

Mean and Standard error were determined through descriptive statistics in excel (2010). Analysis of variance (ANOVA) - Single factor was done separately for all parameters. Pearson correlation (r) analysis was used to express the relationship between all the studied parameters. SPSS 16.0 for Windows (2010) was used for statistical analysis.

# **CHAPTER 4: RESULTS**

## 4.1. Soil Moisture Content

For both species sampled, soil moisture content at 15cm depth differed significantly among sampling months (P < 0.05) (Table: 1) and species (P < 0.05) (Table: 2). It was low during summer (February-April) and high in monsoon (June and September) in both species. In early winter (end of November), the values were much lower than that of late monsoon (September). In *C. tribuloides*, moisture percentage ranged from 10.10% (February) to 23.79% (September). *Q. leucotrichophora* showed a variation in soil moisture percentage ranging from 5.53% (February) to 17.06% (June). (Fig: 3)



**Figure 3:** Variation in Soil Moisture Content at 15cm depth (%) during February 2019 to January 2020 in *C. tribuloides* and *Q. leucotrichophora*.

There was significant variation of soil moisture content at 30cm depth with the months sampled (P < 0.05) (Table: 1) and species (P < 0.05) (Table: 2) but did not show a clear pattern of increase or decrease except for *C. tribuloides* in monsoon period. In *C. tribuloides*, soil moisture percentage was lowest in February (10.53%) and highest in September (23.05%). In *Q. leucotrichophora*, moisture percentage ranged from 6.59% (November) to 16.13% (June). In both species, the values highly decreased from September to November. (Fig: 4)



**Figure 4:** Variation in Soil Moisture Content at 30cm depth (%) during February 2019 to January 2020 in *C. tribuloides* and *Q. leucotrichophora*.

# 4.2. Pressure Volume Analysis

In both species, RWC<sub>z</sub> declined during the dry months (January to March). An increase was observed from late summer to late monsoon. For both species sampled, RWC<sub>z</sub> exhibited significant variation among sampled months (P < 0.05) (Table: 1) and species (P < 0.05) (Table: 2). RWC<sub>z</sub> in *C. tribuloides* ranged between 82.99 % (March) to 90.15% (September). In *Q. leucotrichophora*, RWC<sub>z</sub> ranged from 87.11% (March) to 91.36% (September). (Fig: 5)



**Figure 5:** Variation in Relative Water Content at zero turgor (RWC<sub>z</sub>,) during February 2019 to January 2020 in *C. tribuloides* and *Q. leucotrichophora*.

For both species sampled, ANOVA showed that the attributes of water relation parameters ( $\psi_{sz}$  and  $\psi_{sf}$ ) varied significantly among months (P < 0.05) (Table: 1) but insignificantly varied among the species (P = 0.3 and P = 0.9, respectively) (Table: 2). Both  $\psi_{sz}$  and  $\psi_{sf}$  in *C. tribuloides*, increased from summer to monsoon (March to August) and then the values got declined up to November. In *C. tribuloides*, mean  $\psi_{sz}$ was highest (less negative) in August (-3.75MPa) and it was lowest (more negative) in November (-5.09 MPa). Mean  $\psi_{sf}$  was highest in February (-2.34 MPa) whereas it was lowest in November (-3.2 MPa). In case of, *Q. leucotrichophora*,  $\psi_{sz}$  decreased from monsoon to mid -winter (August to January) and then increased up to March while  $\psi_{sf}$ did not show clear pattern of increase or decrease except for summer where the values got declined. Both  $\psi_{sz}$  and  $\psi_{sf}$  were highest in August (-3.75MPa and -2.41MPa respectively) and lowest in Janiuary (-5.0 MPa and -3.55 MPa respectively) in *Q. leucotrichophora*. (Fig: 6 and 7)



**Figure 6:** Variation in Osmotic potential at zero turgor  $(\Psi_{sz})$  during February 2019 to January 2020 in *C. tribuloides* and *Q. leucotrichophora*.



**Figure 7:** Variation in Osmotic potential at full turgor  $(\Psi_{sf})$  during February 2019 to January 2020 in *C. tribuloides* and *Q. leucotrichophora*.

Index of Elasticity ( $\varepsilon$ ) showed a significant variation among the studied species (P < 0.05) and sampling months (P < 0.05) in *C. tribuloides* but insignificantly varied in *Q. leucotrichophora* (P = 0.1) (Table: 1 and 2). In both species, index of elasticity decreased during dry months (February-April). In *C. tribuloides*, the highest and lowest value of  $\varepsilon$  were recorded in September (3.15 MPa) and April (1.69 MPa) respectively. On the other hand, mean  $\varepsilon$  ranged from 2.62 MPa (August) to 3.76 MPa (September) in *Q. leucotrichophora*. (Fig: 8)



**Figure 8:** Variation in Index of Elasticity ( $\varepsilon$ ) during February 2019 to January 2020 in *C. tribuloides* and *Q. leucotrichophora*.

Index of desiccation tolerance (IDT) showed a significant variation with species (P < 0.05) (Table: 2) and months (P < 0.05) in both species (Table 1). IDT went on decreasing from summer to monsoon (March- August) in *C. tribuloides* while the value decreased from March to September in *Q. leucotrichophora*. IDT ranged from 26.42 (November) to 77.29 (March) in *C. tribuloides*. In *Q. leucotrichophora*, the highest and lowest values of IDT were observed in March (70.02) and September (21.56) respectively. (Fig: 9)



**Figure 9:** Variation in Index of Desiccation Tolerance (IDT) during February 2019 to January 2020 in *C. tribuloides* and *Q. leucotrichophora*.

# 4.3. Twig Conductance

Huber value (H<sub>v</sub>), which is a proportionality variation between xylem and leaf surface area, varied significantly among sampled months (P < 0.05) in both species (Table: 1) but insignificantly varied between two species (P = 0.5) (Table: 2). In *C. tribuloides*, a rising trend in H<sub>v</sub> was observed from November to March, being highest in March ( $2.06 \times 10^{-4}$ ) and lowest in September and November ( $1.42 \times 10^{-4}$ ). In *Q. leucotrichophora*, H<sub>v</sub> was observed to be declined from February to June, being highest in February ( $3.12 \times 10^{-4}$ ) and lowest in September ( $1.06 \times 10^{-4}$ ). From August to January the value was fluctuated. (Fig: 10)



**Figure 10:** Variation in Huber value  $(H_v)$  during February 2019 to January 2020 in *C*. *tribuloides* and *Q. leucotrichophora* 

ANOVA showed that the hydraulic conductivity (K<sub>h</sub>) varied significantly among the sampled months (P < 0.05) in both species (Table: 1) but insignificantly differed between two species (P = 0.17) (Table: 2). In *Q. leucotrichophora*, hydraulic conductivity (K<sub>h</sub>) decreased during dry months. An increase was observed from April to August in both species. In *C. tribuloides*, K<sub>h</sub> ranged from  $0.64 \times 10^{-6}$  kg m sec<sup>-1</sup> MPa<sup>-1</sup> (April) to  $2.88 \times 10^{-6}$  kg m sec<sup>-1</sup> MPa<sup>-1</sup> (August). In *Q. leucotrichophora*, K<sub>h</sub> ranged from  $1.02 \times 10^{-6}$  kg m sec<sup>-1</sup> MPa<sup>-1</sup> (April) to  $3.07 \times 10^{-6}$ kg m sec<sup>-1</sup> MPa<sup>-1</sup> (August). (Fig: 11)



**Figure 11:** Variation in Hydraulic conductivity (K<sub>h</sub>) during February 2019 to January 2020 in *C. tribuloides* and *Q. leucotrichophora*.

ANOVA showed that the specific conductivity (K<sub>s</sub>) showed significant variation among the sampled months (P < 0.05) in both species (Table: 1) but not with the sampled species (P = 0.88) (Table: 2). Specific conductivity decreased from January to April and then increased up to August in *C. tribuloides* while in case of *Q. leucotrichophora*, it did not show clear pattern of change. In *C. tribuloides*, K<sub>s</sub> ranged from 0.31 kg m<sup>-1</sup> sec<sup>-1</sup> MPa<sup>-1</sup> (April) to 1.08 kg m<sup>-1</sup> sec<sup>-1</sup> MPa<sup>-1</sup> (August). In *Q. leucotrichophora*, K<sub>s</sub> ranged from 0.38 kg m<sup>-1</sup> sec<sup>-1</sup> MPa<sup>-1</sup> (April) to 0.78kg m<sup>-1</sup> sec<sup>-1</sup> MPa<sup>-1</sup> (June). (Fig: 12)



**Figure 12:** Variation in Specific conductivity (K<sub>s</sub>) during February 2019 to January 2020 in *C. tribuloides* and *Q. leucotrichophora*.

ANOVA showed that the leaf specific conductivity (K<sub>1</sub>) varied significantly among the sampled months (P < 0.05) in both species (Table: 1) but not with the sampled species (P = 0.94) (Table: 2). In both species, leaf specific conductivity decreased during dry months and the values increased when monsoon proceeded. In *C. tribuloides*, K<sub>1</sub> was recorded highest during August ( $1.3 \times 10^{-4}$  kg m<sup>-1</sup> sec<sup>-1</sup> MPa<sup>-1</sup>) and lowest during April ( $0.36 \times 10^{-4}$  kg m<sup>-1</sup> sec<sup>-1</sup> MPa<sup>-1</sup>). In *Q. leucotrichophora*, K<sub>1</sub> ranged highest in August ( $1.22 \times 10^{-4}$  kg m<sup>-1</sup> sec<sup>-1</sup> MPa<sup>-1</sup>) and lowest in April ( $0.39 \times 10^{-4}$  kg m<sup>-1</sup> sec<sup>-1</sup> MPa<sup>-1</sup>). (Fig: 13)



**Figure 13:** Variation in Leaf specific conductivity (K<sub>1</sub>) during February 2019 to January 2020 in *C. tribuloides* and *Q. leucotrichophora*.

## 4.4. Twig Starch Content

ANOVA analysis showed a significant variation in starch content in zero-year twig (Starch<sub>0</sub>) (P < 0.05) but insignificant variation in one-year-twig (Starch<sub>1</sub>) (P = 0.16) among sampled months (Table: 1) in *C. tribuloides*. However, in case of *Q. leucotrichophora*, insignificant variation was observed in zero-year twig and one year twig among sampled months (P = 0.13 and P = 0.36 respectively) (Table: 1). Also there was insignificant variation in starch content in zero-year twig and one-year-twig among the sampled species (P = 0.1 and P = 0.37 respectively). (Table: 2)

In *C. tribuloides*, Starch<sub>0</sub> was high in March and November while lower values were found in monsoon period (June- September). Starch<sub>1</sub> was high in March and November while there was no starch in winter (January and February) and monsoon period (June-September). Starch<sub>0</sub> in *C. tribuloides*, ranged from 0% (June) to 100% (March) and starch<sub>1</sub> ranged from 0% (February, June, August, September and January) to 80% (November).In *Q. leucotrichophora*, starch content was high in March and decreased gradually in late summer and early monsoon. There was no starch during post monsoon period. In *Q. leucotrichophora*, starch content of current year (starch<sub>0</sub>) was highest in March (100%) and lowest in June, September, November and January (0%). The previous year twig (starch<sub>1</sub>) was highest in March (80%) and lowest in June, August, September, November and January (0%). (Fig: 14 and 15)



**Figure 14:** Variation in Starch percentage in zero year twig (Starch<sub>0</sub>) during February 2019 to January 2020 in *C. tribuloides* and *Q. leucotrichophora*.



**Figure 15:** Variation in Starch percentage in one year twig (Starch<sub>1</sub>) during February 2019 to January 2020 in *C. tribuloides* and *Q. leucotrichophora*.

# 4.5. Specific Leaf Mass

For both species sampled, specific leaf mass (SLM) showed significant variation with sampled months (P < 0.05) (Table: 1) and species (P < 0.05) (Table: 2). Mean value showed significant difference among the sampled species. In both species, SLM decreased in summer (February to April) and increased in monsoon period. In *C. tribuloides*, high and low SLM were observed in the month of February ( $1.13 \times 10^{-2}$  g cm<sup>-2</sup>) and April ( $0.62 \times 10^{-2}$  g cm<sup>-2</sup>) respectively. *Q. leucotrichophora*, had the highest SLM in February ( $1.31 \times 10^{-2}$  g cm<sup>-2</sup>) and lowest in April ( $0.8 \times 10^{-2}$  g cm<sup>-2</sup>). (Fig: 16)



**Figure 16:** Variation in Specific Leaf Mass (SLM) during February 2019 to January 2020 in *C. tribuloides* and *Q. leucotrichophora*.

**Table 1:** ANOVA result showing variation among sampling months in *C. tribuloides* and *Q. leucotrichophora*. Significance values: P < 0.05.

Parameters	P- value (C. tribuloides)	P-value (Q. leucotrichophora)
SMC <sub>15cm</sub>	< 0.0001	< 0.001
SMC <sub>30cm</sub>	< 0.0001	< 0.001
RWCz	< 0.0001	< 0.0001
Ψsz	< 0.0001	< 0.0001
Ψsf	< 0.0001	< 0.0001
ε	0.044	0.12
IDT	< 0.0001	< 0.0001
Starch <sub>0</sub>	0.018	0.134
Starch1	0.165	0.363
SLM	< 0.001	< 0.001
H <sub>v</sub>	< 0.001	< 0.001
K <sub>h</sub>	< 0.001	< 0.001
Ks	< 0.001	< 0.001
Kı	< 0.001	< 0.001

**Table 2:** ANOVA result showing variation between C. tribuloides and Q.leucotrichophora. Significance values: P < 0.05.

Parameters	<i>P</i> - value
SMC <sub>15cm</sub>	0.016
SMC <sub>30cm</sub>	0.004
RWCz	0.019
Ψsz	0.325
Ψsf	0.993
ε	0.027
IDT	0.014
Starch <sub>0</sub>	0.107
Starch <sub>1</sub>	0.371
SLM	0.020
H <sub>v</sub>	0.576
K <sub>h</sub>	0.883
Ks	0.949
Kı	0.170

## 4.6. Relationship among the parameters

## 4.6.1. Correlation of soil moisture content with other variables

Soil moisture content at 15cm depth (%) correlated positively with Soil moisture content at 30cm depth (%),  $K_h$  and  $K_s$ , whereas it showed negative correlation with  $H_v$ , SLM, starch<sub>0</sub> and starch<sub>1</sub> in *C. tribuloides*. Most of the parameters studied like RWC<sub>z</sub>,  $\psi_{sz}$ ,  $\psi_{sf}$ ,  $\varepsilon$ , IDT and  $K_1$  showed insignificant correlation with soil moisture content at 15cm depth. (Table: 3)

In, *Q. leucotrichophora*, it exhibited positive correlation with SMC at 30cm depth (%),  $\psi_{sz}$ , IDT and K<sub>s</sub> and correlated negatively with SLM, H<sub>v</sub> and K<sub>l</sub>. There was insignificant correlation between moisture content and RWC<sub>z</sub>,  $\varepsilon$ , starch<sub>0</sub>. (Table: 4)

Soil moisture content at 30cm depth (%) correlated positively with  $K_h$  and  $K_s$  whereas it showed negative correlation with  $H_v$ , SLM, starch<sub>0</sub> and starch<sub>1</sub> in *C. tribuloides*. Most of the parameters studied like RWC<sub>z</sub>,  $\psi_{sz}$ ,  $\psi_{sf}$ ,  $\varepsilon$ , IDT and  $K_1$  showed insignificant correlation with soil moisture content at 30cm depth. (Table: 3)

In, *Q. leucotrichophora*, it exhibited positive correlation with  $\psi_{sz}$ ,  $\psi_{sf}$ , IDT and K<sub>s</sub> and showed negative correlation with RWC<sub>z</sub>, SLM, H<sub>v</sub> and K<sub>l</sub>. There was no significant correlation with  $\varepsilon$ , starch<sub>0</sub> and starch<sub>1</sub>. (Table: 4)

#### 4.6.2. Correlation of RWC<sub>z</sub>, $\psi_{sz}$ and $\psi_{sf}$ with other variables

In *C. tribuloides*, relative water content at zero turgor (RWC<sub>z</sub>) correlated positively with  $\varepsilon$ , K<sub>h</sub>, K<sub>s</sub> and K<sub>1</sub> and correlated negatively with H<sub>v</sub>,  $\psi_{sz}$ ,  $\psi_{sf}$ , IDT, starch<sub>0</sub> and starch<sub>1</sub>. A significant negative correlation of RWC<sub>z</sub> with IDT and H<sub>v</sub> was observed. A significant positive correlation of  $\psi_{sz}$  with  $\psi_{sf}$  and IDT was found.  $\psi_{sz}$  showed positive correlation with H<sub>v</sub> and negatively correlated with K<sub>h</sub>, K<sub>s</sub> and K<sub>1</sub>.  $\psi_{sf}$  showed positive correlation with parameters such as H<sub>v</sub>, IDT and correlated negatively with  $\varepsilon$ , K<sub>h</sub>, K<sub>s</sub> and K<sub>1</sub>. (Table: 3)

A significant negative correlation of RWC<sub>z</sub> with  $\psi_{sz}$ ,  $\psi_{sf}$  and IDT and significant positive correlation with  $\varepsilon$  was found in *Q. leucotrichophora*. RWC<sub>z</sub> correlated negatively with starch<sub>0</sub> and starch<sub>1</sub> and positively with SLM. In *Q. leucotrichophora*,  $\psi_{sz}$  showed significant positive correlation with  $\psi_{sf}$ , IDT, starch<sub>0</sub> and starch<sub>1</sub> while negative correlation occurred between  $\psi_{sz}$  and  $\varepsilon$  and SLM.  $\psi_{sf}$  showed negative correlation with  $\varepsilon$  and SLM while correlated positively with IDT, starch<sub>0</sub> and starch<sub>1</sub>. (Table: 4)

#### 4.6.3. Correlation of Index of elasticity with other variables

In *C. tribuloides*, Index of elasticity correlated negatively with IDT and H<sub>v</sub>.  $\varepsilon$  correlated positively with SLM and K<sub>1</sub> (Table: 3). A significant positive correlation of  $\varepsilon$  with SLM and a significant negative correlation with IDT were found in *Q. leucotrichophora*.  $\varepsilon$  correlated negatively with starch<sub>0</sub> and starch<sub>1</sub>. (Table: 4)

#### 4.6.4. Correlation of IDT

IDT showed a significant positive correlation with  $H_v$  and negative correlation with  $K_h$ ,  $K_s$  and  $K_l$  in *C. tribuloides* (Table: 3). IDT in *Q. leucotrichophora* correlated positively with twig starch content and negatively with SLM (Table: 4).

# 4.6.5. Correlation of starch percentage content in twigs

Both variables of starch (starch<sub>0</sub> and starch<sub>1</sub>) correlated significantly with each other in both sampled species (Table: 3 and 4). Both starch<sub>0</sub> and starch<sub>1</sub> correlated negatively with K<sub>h</sub> and K<sub>s</sub> in *C. tribuloides* (Table: 3). In *Q. leucotrichophora*, starch<sub>0</sub> showed positive correlation with H<sub>v</sub> and K<sub>1</sub> and negatively correlated with SLM. Starch<sub>1</sub> correlated positively with H<sub>v</sub> and negatively with SLM. (Table: 4)

# 4.6.6. Correlation of SLM

SLM in *C. tribuloides* correlated positively with  $K_1$  (Table: 3) and with  $H_v$ ,  $K_h$  and  $K_1$  in *Q. leucotrichophora* (Table: 4)

# 4.6.7. Correlation of Huber value

In *C. tribuloides*,  $H_v$  showed insignificant correlation with  $K_h$ ,  $K_l$  and  $K_s$  (Table: 3) while in *Q. leucotrichophora*,  $H_v$  correlated positively with  $K_h$  and  $K_l$  and negatively with  $K_s$  (Table: 4).

# 4.6.8. Correlation of Hydraulic conductivity

Hydraulic conductivity showed significant correlation with  $K_1$  and  $K_s$  in both species (Table: 3 and 4).

## 4.6.9. Correlation between Specific conductivity and Leaf specific conductivity

Specific conductivity and Leaf specific conductivity correlated significantly with each other in *C. tribuloides* (Table: 3) but insignificantly correlated in *Q. leucotrichophora* (Table: 4).

	SMC1 5cm	SMC3 0cm	RW Cz	ψsz	ψsf	ε	IDT	Star ch <sub>0</sub>	Star ch <sub>1</sub>	SL M	Hv	Ks	Kı	Kh
SMC <sub>1</sub> 5cm		0.94**	0.15	0. 09	- 0.0 5	- 0. 03	- 0.0 1	- 0.51	- 0.35	- 0.5 5	- 0.4 4	0. 34	- 0.1 9	0.3 2
SMC <sub>3</sub> <sub>0cm</sub>			0.15	0. 12	- 0.1 3	0. 12	- 0.0 6	- 0.51	- 0.40	- 0.3 8	- 0.3 4	0. 50	0.0 0	0.4 7
RWC z				- 0. 55	- 0.6 0	0. 54	- 0.8 5**	- 0.57	- 0.41	0.2 1	- 0.7 7*	0. 43	0.4 5	0.3 5
Ψsz					0.9 0**	- 0. 25	0.8 3*	- 0.05	- 0.23	- 0.0 1	0.5 2	- 0. 33	- 0.6 8	- 0.5 2
Ψsf						- 0. 52	0.9 0**	0.03	- 0.12	0.0 2	0.5 3	- 0. 53	- 0.7 8*	- 0.5 9
ε							- 0.6 7	0.10	0.17	0.3 9	- 0.5 4	0. 17	0.3 4	0.0 4
IDT								0.17	- 0.01	- 0.2 4	0.7 2*	- 0. 48	- 0.7 1	- 0.4 8
Starc ho									0.94 **	0.2 3	0.2 8	- 0. 50	- 0.0 8	- 0.3 5
Starc h1										0.1 2	- 0.0 2	- 0. 55	- 0.1 1	- 0.3 1
SLM											0.0 3	0. 05	0.3 6	0.1 2
Hv												- 0. 08	- 0.0 8	- 0.1 6
Ks													0.7 8*	0.8 6**
Kı														0.8

**Table 3:** Pearson coefficient of correlation between various parameters shown by C.tribuloides. Significance values: \*=P < 0.05, \*\*=P < 0.01

							0**

**Table 4:** Pearson coefficient of correlation between various parameters shown by Q.*leucotrichophora.* Significance values: \*=P < 0.05, \*\*=P < 0.01.</td>

	SMC <sub>1</sub> 5cm	SMC <sub>3</sub> 0cm	RW Cz	ψsz	ψsf	ε	ID T	Star ch <sub>0</sub>	Star ch <sub>1</sub>	SL M	Hv	Ks	Kı	Kh
SMC <sub>1</sub>		0.92**	- 0.24	0.4 4	0.0 0	- 0.0 7	0.3 0	- 0.06	- 0.14	- 0.5 4	- 0. 65	0. 60	- 0.3 8	0.2 0
SMC3 0cm			- 0.53	0.6 9	0.3	- 0.2 2	0.5 6	0.25	0.21	- 0.7 1	- 0. 53	0. 50	- 0.3 8	0.0 7
RWC z				- 0.8 4**	- 0.9 1**	0.7 4*	- 0.9 6**	- 0.64	- 0.61	0.6 94	- 0. 16	- 0. 05	- 0.0 5	- 0.0 7
Ψsz					0.7 9*	- 0.5 6	0.9 1**	0.81 *	0.73 *	- 0.6 3	0. 16	0. 23	0.2 0	0.2 6
Ψsf						- 0.7 7*	0.9 1**	0.69	0.69	- 0.6 4	0. 24	- 0. 08	0.1 4	- 0.0 6
ε							- 0.8 2*	- 0.45	- 0.41	0.7 2*	- 0. 10	0. 13	- 0.1 1	0.0 8
IDT								0.73 *	0.67	- 0.7 5*	0. 16	0. 08	0.1 4	0.1 2
Starc h <sub>0</sub>									0.95 **	- 0.3 6	0. 54	- 0. 21	0.3 6	0.0 8
Starc h1										- 0.3 3	0. 44	- 0. 13	0.2 9	- 0.0 5
SLM											0. 42	0. 05	0.4 8	0.3 8
H <sub>v</sub>												- 0.	0.7 8*	0.4 0

						40		
17							0.1	0.5
Ks							7	7
							,	<i>'</i>
17								0.7
Kı								6*

## 4.7. Phenology

The phenological events (bud break, leaf emergence, flowering & senescence) commenced mostly from the late winter months to late summer (Feb-May) in Q. *leucotrichophora* (Fig: 17) while flowering delayed to September in *C. tribuloides* (Fig: 18). The studied species showed evergreen types of leaf exchange pattern where plants were not naked due to simultaneous leafing. The senescence was confirmed when approximately 25% of the leaves were shed off from the sampled as well as nearby trees.

In *C. tribuloides*, winter buds burst in early March. Then new leaf formation, enlargement and shoot elongation continued until late June. Again, leaf bud emergence occurred in August and leafing in some twigs was observed in November. January to April was found to be the period of leaf drop in *C. tribuloides*. In this species, flowering took place in September. Fruiting started from late December and matured in February. The damages occurred as necrotic spots and holes throughout the leaves. (Fig: 18)

In *Q. leucotrichophora*, bud break occurred in early March followed by leaf initiation and twig emergence. Leaf enlargement continued till June. Senescence was rapid in this species and sometimes even one-month-old leaf dried and fell off. High leaf drop was observed in March and April. Second flushing took after the rainy season in this species. In *Q. leucotrichophora*, 90% shoot elongation was completed during rainy season (August-September). Flowers appeared during March-May. Visible fruits occurred in June and matured in November to January. Leaves were found damaged by insects, necrotic patches, bulges and holes. (Fig: 17)

Leaf area showed significant variation among the sampled months and both sampled species (P< 0.05). Mean leaf area showed the highest and lowest value in March (468.33 mm<sup>2</sup>) and June (336.72 mm<sup>2</sup>) respectively in *C. tribuloides*. In *Q*.

*leucotrichophora*, it exhibited highest value in September (348.64 mm<sup>2</sup>) and lowest during February (268.91 mm<sup>2</sup>). (Fig: 19)

Phenonhases	Months											
1 nenopnuses	Feb	Mar	Apr	June	Aug	Sep	Nov	Jan2	Jan28			
Flowering												
Fruiting												
Leaf damage												
Leaf senescence												
Leaf emergence												

Figure 17: Phenological activities in *Q. leucotrichophora* during all sampling months.

Phenonhases	Months												
1 nenopnuses	Feb	Mar	Apr	June	Aug	Sep	Nov	Jan2	Jan28				
Flowering		·		·	·				·				
Fruiting													
Leaf damage													
Leaf senescence													
Leaf emergence													

Figure 18: Phenological activities in *C. tribuloides* during all sampling months.



Figure 19: Variation in leaf area during February 2019 to January 2020 in *C. tribuloides* and *Q. leucotrichophora.* 

# **CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION**

The present study exhibited monthly variation in water relation parameters and phenological behaviors in C. tribuloides and Q. leucotrichophora. The accessibility of soil water to plants depends primarily on amount of water stored in the soil and its relation to soil moisture content (Lambers et al., 1998). In both species soil moisture percentage in both depth i.e. 15cm and 30cm were highest in September when soils were wet after three months of precipitation similar to the findings of Adhikari (2000). The minimum soil moisture content was observed during late winter (February) in C. tribuloides. In Q. leucotrichophora, moisture content reached to its minimum value in November when no notable rainfall occurred. During this dry period, due to correspondingly increased surface temperature which ultimately increased surface evaporation and the decline of soil moisture reserve for plants in the absence of significant rainfall. Soil moisture content at 30cm depth correlated significantly with soil moisture percentage at 15cm depth for both species and specified the same seasonal patterns of variation. Variation in soil moisture content might be due to the differences in rooting depth, the length of growing period, capacity to extract water, etc.

*Q. leucotrichophora* showed significant correlation between  $\psi_{sz}$  and soil moisture content at both depth 15cm and 30cm indicating its ability to accumulate solute concentrations during low water availability while in *C. tribuloides*, there was insignificant correlation. Poudyal (2004) reported a significant correlation between mean soil  $\psi$  and  $\psi_{sz}$  in *Quercus* species and some other Himalayan trees while Abrams (1990) found no correlation between predawn leaf  $\psi$  and  $\psi_{sz}$  for several oak species both under field and green house conditions. When soil moisture content decreases in dry months, living cells adjust their water status by accumulating osmotically active compounds, which lower the osmotic potential and hence maintain turgor (Lambers *et al.*, 1998).

Osmotic adjustment is one of the common adaptation strategies exhibited by plants to tolerate low water potential (Abrams, 1990). Osmotic potentials at both zero and full turgor in studied species decreased after monsoon as the dry periods proceeded. A significant difference in  $\psi_{sz}$ ,  $\psi_{sf}$ ,  $\varepsilon$  and RWC<sub>z</sub> might be attributed to the internal recycling of solutes during the dry periods and to timing of phenological activity.

Such type of observation has been reported by Poudyal (2004) in some Himalayan trees at Phulchowki hill. *Q. leucotrichophora* had the lowest osmotic potential values (both  $\psi_{sf}$  and  $\psi_{sz}$ ) in January. Similarly, *C. tribuloides* had the lowest values of  $\psi_{sf}$  and  $\psi_{sz}$  in November. Mean  $\psi_{sz}$  and  $\psi_{sf}$  ranged from -3.75 MPa to -5.09 MPa and from - 2.34 MPa to -3.2 MPa respectively in *C. tribuloides*. These values were lower than those reported by Adhikari (2000). *Q. leucotrichophora* showed osmotic adjustment ranging from -2.41 to -3.55 MPa at full turgor and -3.75 to -5.0 MPa at zero turgor. In North American oaks, osmotic adjustment was -0.36 to -3.25 MPa at full turgor and -0.99 to -3.10 MPa at zero turgor (Abrams, 1990). Similarly, Singh *et al.*, (2000) reported a lower range of osmotic adjustment up to -3.5 MPa at  $\psi_{sf}$  and -4.2 MPa at  $\psi_{sz}$  during the dry months of 1999 in Central Himalayan oaks namely *Q. leucotrichophora* and *Q. floribunda*. Osmotic adjustment during dry periods has also been demonstrated in many species of *Quercus* in Europe (*Q. robur* by Osonubi and Davis, 1978), in Nepal (*Q. lanata* and *Q. semecarpifolia* by Poudyal *et al.*, 2012a).

RWC<sub>z</sub>, which is a measure of the plant's ability to maintain turgor in the presence of increasing water deficits, did not correlate with soil moisture content in the studied species thus suggesting a possible increase in water uptake from soil through deep roots as suggested by Poudyal et al., (2012a). RWCz was higher during September and lower during March in both species. Plant maintains turgidity during dry period by lowering relative water content at zero turgor (RWCz). In C. tribuloides, RWCz ranged from 82.99 % (March) to 90.15 % (September) whereas in Q. leucotrichophora, it ranged from 87.11 % (March) to 91.36 % (September). RWCz was lower and tissue elasticity was higher in the same period in C. tribuloides due to increased elasticity. This facilitated the plant to continue growth (as leaf flushing) in such dry months. Similar result was shown by Poudyal *et al.*, (2012a). Comparatively C. tribuloides had higher elasticity of cell walls than Q. leucotrichophora which lost turgor at 87.11 % relative water content while C. tribuloides at 82.99 %. The capacity to maintain a high RWC<sub>z</sub> under drought was observed by Zlatev (2005) and Gorai et al., (2010). In C. tribuloides, RWC<sub>z</sub> showed slightly negative correlation with  $\psi_{sz}$  and  $\psi_{sf}$  which suggests that osmotic adjustment might not contribute in turgor maintenance while in Q. leucotrichophora, RWCz showed a strong negative correlation with  $\psi_{sz}$  and  $\psi_{sf}$  (r= -0.84 and r= -0.91) respectively.
A significant correlation between RWC<sub>z</sub> and  $\varepsilon$  (r= 0.74) in *Q. leucotrichophora* and (r = 0.54) in *C. tribuloides* suggested greater elastic adjustment instead of osmotic adjustment. Elasticity of cell wall is the next important pre-requisite for phenological processes occurring mostly in drought seasons. The bulk modulus of elasticity ( $\varepsilon$ ) which is inversely proportional to the index of elasticity of cell wall was low in *C. tribuloides* and high in *Q. leucotrichophora* in the dry months. Lower  $\varepsilon$  value during drought indicates tissue ability to shrink more during dehydration and elastic adjustment results from the modification of cell walls, which make them more elastic thereby enabling tissue shrinkage during dehydration.

The index of elasticity ( $\epsilon$ ) was least when leaf emergence was progressing and highest when the leaves matured in *C. tribuloides*. Thereafter with the beginning of senescence  $\epsilon$  began to decline which was similar to the result reported by Adhikari (2000). However,  $\epsilon$  reached to its maximum value in August and attained peak during September. The role of  $\epsilon$  in turgor maintenance is considered to be controversial (Cosgrove, 1988). With increasing drought stress,  $\epsilon$  has been found to remain constant (Hsaio *et al.*, 1976), to decrease (Robichaux, 1984) and to increase (Mulkey *et al.*, 1991).

Index of desiccation tolerance (IDT) in both species was highest during dry periods when leaf production and twig growth took place and lowest in monsoon and post monsoon period. Desiccation tolerance is associated with low  $\psi_{sz}$ , low RWC<sub>z</sub> and low  $\varepsilon$  (high elasticity) (Lambers *et al.*, 1998). Poudyal *et al.*, (2012a) has also reported high IDT in some Himalayan tree species in the dry months.

Hydraulic conductance of the plants was studied through the parameters like Huber value  $(H_v)$ , Xylem conductivity  $(K_h)$ , Specific conductivity  $(K_s)$  and leaf specific conductivity  $(K_l)$ . These parameters showed monthly variation in both species.

Huber value (H<sub>v</sub>) which is considered as relative conducting area is high in plants that lose large quantities of water in transpiration (Larcher, 1995). Both species maintained increased Huber value (H<sub>v</sub>) in dry months. It might be due to rapid supply of water to newly formed leaf. Leaf senescence might be responsible for high H<sub>v</sub> value in February-March in *Q. leucotrichophora*. Both the studied species showed lower H<sub>v</sub> during September as it showed negative correlation with moisture content, RWC<sub>z</sub> and  $\varepsilon$  and positive correlation with IDT in *C. tribuloides* while negatively correlated with only moisture content in *Q. leucotrichophora*.

Xylem conductivity ( $K_h$ ) in both species was highest in August and lowest in April. In *C. tribuloides*, the lower values of  $K_h$  in dry summer might be because of lesser availability of water in the soil. High  $K_h$  during monsoon might be because of wet soil as it showed positive correlation with moisture content and RWC<sub>z</sub>. In *Q. leucotrichophora*, the value of  $K_h$  was slightly high in February indicating its ability to supply ample amount of water to newly emerged leaves even though the soil moisture content was low. Similar results were obtained by Adhikari (2000) in *C. tribuloides*.

The specific conductivity ( $K_s$ ) is the porosity of wood (Tyree and Ewers, 1996) and depends on the diameter of conducting element (Larcher, 1995).  $K_s$  declined in both species with the beginning of dry months as observed by Prior and Eamus (2000) and Poudyal *et al.*, (2003). Both species showed high  $K_s$  value in monsoon period. It might be because of the development of summer wood and increment in the vessel diameter.  $K_s$  in both species showed positive correlation with soil moisture content.

Leaf specific conductivity (K<sub>1</sub>), which is a practical measurement of the xylem's hydraulic supply capacity (Zimmerman, 1978) decreased with decreasing water availability. K<sub>1</sub> was recorded lowest in April in both species. The reduction of K<sub>1</sub> due to dehydration can be due to reduction in the permeability of the extra- xylary tissues (Sack and Holbrook 2006, Pou *et al.*, 2013) or collapse of xylem cells (Brodribb and Holbrook 2005). K<sub>1</sub> was high during monsoon. It might be to cope with developing leaves and flowers as well as efficient water in monsoon (Adhikari, 2000). K<sub>1</sub> values ranged from  $0.36 \times 10^{-4}$  kg m<sup>-1</sup> sec<sup>-1</sup> MPa<sup>-1</sup> to  $1.3 \times 10^{-4}$  kg m<sup>-1</sup> sec<sup>-1</sup> MPa<sup>-1</sup> in *C. tribuloides* while in *Q. leucotrichophora*, the values ranged from  $0.39 \times 10^{-4}$  kg m<sup>-1</sup> sec<sup>-1</sup> MPa<sup>-1</sup>. These values were higher than those of temperate trees observed by Tyree *et al.*, (1991) *Thuja occidentalis* ( $0.05 \times 10^{-4}$  kg m<sup>-1</sup> sec<sup>-1</sup> MPa<sup>-1</sup>) and the angiosperm *Acer sachharum* ( $1.0 \times 10^{-4}$  kg m<sup>-1</sup> sec<sup>-1</sup> MPa<sup>-1</sup>) but were much lower than the values reported by Poudyal (2004) in *Q. lanata* and *Q. semecarpifolia*.

Starch percentage content in twigs, is the parameter which showed an apparent relationship with leaf phenology. In both species high starch accumulation was found

in zero-year twig at the time of leaf emergence. Such high value was due to the accumulation of reserved carbohydrates as suggested by Poudyal *et al.*, (2012b) in Himalayan tree species. As growth starts, so formed starch was used up by plants. Mostly a higher starch staining was found in current year's twigs than in the previous year's twigs in these species which indicated quick and efficient shift of such accumulates to the new shoots. Similar result was found by Poudyal (2014) in *Castanopsis indica* in Phulchowki hill which stated the indication of expeditious shift of starch accumulates to the new shoots. A correlation in the starch content of 1- year-old and 2- year- old twigs of Pine and *Q. leucotrichophora* was observed by Zobel (1996).

Decrease in starch staining after leaf emergence also indicated hydrolysis of photosynthates into soluble carbohydrates. However a substantial amount of starch was present in the zero- year twig in *C. tribuloides* except in June. According to Larcher (1995) about a third of the reserve material is utilized in the unfolding of leaves and flowers and developing of fruits. As flowering and fruiting took place immediately after leaf flush in the studied species, existing starch might be used for flowering and fruiting by them. *Q. leucotrichophora* with its multiple leaf flushing behavior showed an inconsistent starch staining where the reserve starch was completely hydrolyzed throughout the monsoon and winter period except in August in zero year twigs. This suggested that the reserve starch compensated all the phenological events indicating continuous depletion which might contribute to osmotic regulation during these months (Poudyal, 2004). Epron and Dreyer (1996) suggested that large increase in soluble carbohydrates contributes in the osmotic adjustment of oaks (*Q. petraea* Matt. Liebl.).

In both the studied species, SLM was highest during February and lowest values were recorded during the period of leaf fall i.e. April. Variations in SLM are caused due to variations in leaf thickness or in leaf mass density (Witkowski and Lamont 1991) and are related with the differences in both leaf anatomy and chemical composition (Lambers *et al.*, 1998). The differences in SLM have been related to the differences in the proportion of photosynthetic tissues. Poudyal *et al.*, (2012b) suggested an increase in SLM as leaves expanded which was due to the increased thickness of palisade parenchyma. The value of SLM was found to be increased during monsoon and post monsoon period when leaves were fully developed and decreased when leaf

emergence and simultaneously senescence took place during April. Senescence occurred by drying up, damages and holes in leaves which lead to declined leaf density thereby lowering SLM as stated by Poudyal *et al.*, (2012b). A positive correlation between SLM and Huber value in *Q. leucotrichophora* indicated that changes in SLM was related to the changes in leaf area (Poudyal *et al.*, 2012b).

Abiotic factors such as periodicity of rainfall and soil water availability or variations in photoperiod usually have direct impacts on plant phenology. Increased water stress during early dry season generally causes a decline in water potential and induces leaf shedding (Borchert, 1995). Phenological events in Q. leucotrichophora commenced mostly from early March and ended before monsoon while in C. tribuloides flowering started from September. In C. tribuloides, different workers have reported flowering and fruiting in different months. Subedi (1999) has reported the flowering period during May to June and fruiting during June to August. Flora of Kathmandu valley has reported August to September as the flowering period and August to October fruiting period. Adhikari (2000) has reported flowering from May to June and June to September as the period of fruiting. C. tribuloides produced additional leaves in early winter month (November) while Q. leucotrichophora showed multiple leaves flushing, both species having damaged leaves all through. Similar result was reported by Poudyal et al., (2012b) in C. indica and Q. lanata which produced additional leaves by using photosynthates from the first formed leaves and in this way the species might compensate for the large proportion of leaf damaged throughout the year.

In *Q. leucotrichophora*, the phenological events such as leaf drop, leaf emergence flowering and fruiting occurred in the dry summer months as in the temperate trees of Indian Central Himalaya (Ralhan *et al.*, 1985). Both species showed evergreen types of leaf exchange pattern with a concentrated leaf drop in a particular season but plants were not naked due to simultaneous leafing. In studied species, concentrated leaf fall during March- April reduced transpirational water loss and could help to rehydrate the tissue (Shrestha *et al.*, 2006). The new leaf production and expansion started from March onwards. An incessant leaf shedding shown by both species with little change in SLM in during the dry period could be a way to recover its water status mainly by decreasing exposed leaf area rather than by leaf morphological changes (Poudyal *et al.*, 2012b).

Leaf abscission is a functional strategy of the plants to maintain a favourable tissue water status because decreased leaf surface area eliminates higher fraction of transpirational water loss as reported by Poudyal *et al.*, (2012b). SLM decreased in both species at the time of senescence. Senescence occurred by yellowing, drying up, damages and holes and such damages and drying of the leaves prior to senescence decreased the leaf density thus lowering SLM. The positive correlation between SLM and Huber value in *Q. leucotrichophora* indicated that changes in SLM was related to the changes in leaf area (Poudyal *et al.*, 2012b).

The leaf area which determines light interception is an important variable in determining plant productivity (Gifford et al., 1984, Koester et al., 2014). In Q. leucotrichophora, the maximum leaf area was found during September when the leaf development was at its peak while the lowest value was found during February which might be associated with newly developing leaves and damaged old leaves. Fully expanded leaf had higher leaf area thus indicating higher rate of photosynthesis (Kikuzawa, 1995) found in this species. Significant decrease in leaf area was also indicated by highest value of H<sub>v</sub> during dry summer month. A rapid increase in leaf area with lower SLM after rainy season was reported by Poudyal et al., (2012b) in some Himalayan species. They attributed the increased of parenchymatous tissues rather than schelerophylly of the leaves as adequate amount of water was present in the soil at that time. However, in C. tribuloides the average leaf area was highest during March and lowest during June which could be associated with their timing of maturation. The maximum photosynthesis during March might be low since the rate of photosynthesis declined with ageing of leaves as stated by Kikuzawa (1995). Lowest mean leaf area in June might be due to the new leaves were still in maturing stage. Exponential increase in leaf area would have been expected for plants growing in optimum conditions (Goudriaan and Van Laar, 1994).

In the study site, *C. tribuloides* was found growing in moisture- rich and shade environment whereas *Q. leucotrichophora* inhabited sunlight exposed slope. Comparatively, *C. tribuloides* had larger leaf area than *Q. leucotrichophora* throughout the observation period. Shade leaves had a larger leaf area but low SLM indicating small sclerenchyma and less vascular bundle. A lower light saturation point of the overall photosynthesis compared to leaves exposed to full sunlight was reported by Bjorkman 1981, Cao and Booth 2001). Furthermore, the variation in the leaf morphology (shape and size) in studied species might better reflect the changes in environmental factors such as temperature, light intensity, and water status.

### **CHAPTER 6: CONCLUSION**

Both *Castanopsis tribuloides* and *Quercus leucotrichophora* showed that the climatic circumstances and monthly variation had strong control over water status of plants. In both species, marked variation in water relation parameters were observed along with different months. The phenological activities in the studied species occurred during the summer drought although fruiting is prolonged up to winter. Both species were moderately stressed during phenologically active period (dry periods of the year) in the sub- tropical forest ecosystems. Phenomorphology of these species showed a close affinity to their internal water status and turgor maintenance.

February was found to be the most drought affected month during the study, which was supported by low soil moisture percentage during that month among sampled species. Water stress may be a precursor including phenological activities in the plant. It showed internal adjustment as well as leaf abscission to buffer water stress to the growing tissues during drought. It lowered transpirational water loss for the proper retention of water. Increased water stress during early dry season generally causes a decline in water potential and induces leaf shedding. A leaf abscission is morphological response to substantial drought. During drought, it assessed water from deeper soil.

Both the phenological processes (leaf fall and emergence) and drought occurred at the same time among sampled species. So, during that time low index of elasticity ( $\varepsilon$ ) and low value of relative water content at zero turgor (RWC<sub>z</sub>) were found during the cell growth and development. In both studied species, elastic adjustment rather than osmotic adjustment was found considered to be functional and most effective strategy of drought tolerance. These plant species also maintain turgor in response to water stress by the drought avoidance mechanism such as leaf shedding and partial defoliation. Thus, the studied species showed two extreme responses, identified from the continuum of adaptive strategies to survive the drought. The first is a drought avoidance strategy as evident from shedding of their foliage in dry summer and second is drought resistance strategy as growth continues even during dry season as shown by both sampled species in my study site.

Moreover, the lower value of  $\varepsilon$  in the drought period made the flowering and fruiting smooth. Lower value of RWC<sub>z</sub> was also important in maintaining turgor for plant growth during dry months. The monthly variation in xylem conductance occurred in studied species. Xylem conductivity showed lower value during dry months when leaf abscission was in progressed.

Reserved starch percentage and SLM had a strong effect on phenological activities. They increased during the vegetative bud break and leaf emergence and decreased during senescence. Starch was found to accumulate for the biosynthetic processes during the period of phenological activities. Leaf emergence period was found to be completed with the complete exhaustion of reserved starch among studied species. SLM was highest for matured leaves and lowest for senescensing leaves.

Tree species may postpone or tolerate dehydration by elastic and osmotic adjustment. Thus, it is concluded that the studied species showed both drought tolerance and avoidance mechanism thus enabling them to withstand the typical seasonality of precipitation and unprecedented drought of this region.

#### REFERENCES

- Abrams, M. D. (1990). Adaptations and responses to drought in *Quercus* species of North America. *Tree Physiology*,**7**, 227-238.
- Abrams, M. D. and Kubiske, M. E. (1990). Leaf structure characteristics of 31 hardwood and conifer tree species in Central Wisconsin: Influence of height regime and shade tolerance rank. *Forest and Ecological Management*, **31**, 245-253.
- Abrams, M. D., Kubiske, M. E. and Mostoller, S.A. (1994). Relating wet and dry year ecophysiology to leaf structure in contrasting temperate tree species. *Ecology*, 75, 123-133.
- Adhikari, N. (2000). Water Relations of *Castanopsis tribuloides* (SM.) A. DC. in Phulchowki, Lalitpur, Nepal. Master's degree Dissertation, Central Department of Botany, Tribhuvan University, Kathmandu, Nepal. 83 pp.
- Auge, R. M., Duan, X., Croker, J. L., Witte, W. T. and Green, C. D. (1998). Foliar dehydration tolerance of twelve deciduous tree species. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 49(321), 753-759.
- Bahari, Z. A., Pallardy, S. G. and Parker, W. C. (1985). Photosynthesis, water relations and drought adaptation in six woody species of oak-hickory forests in Central Missouri. *Forest Science*, **31**, 557-569.
- Bange, G. G. J. (1953). On the quantitative explanation of stomatal transpiration. Acta Botanica Neerlandica, 2, 255-297.
- Barbour, M. G., Bruk, J. H., Gilliam, F. S. and Schwartz, M. W. (1999). Terrestrial Plant Ecology. III edition, Addison Wesley Lonman, Inc.
- Bhattarai, K. (2001). Water relations and phenology of Schima wallichi (D.C.) Korth and its adaptive strategies in Churia Hill, Makwanpur, Central Nepal. M.Sc. Thesis, Central Department of Botany, Tribhuvan University, Kirtipur, Kathmandu. 77 pp.

- Bhuju, U. R., Shakya, P. R., Basnet, T. B. and Subha, S. (2007). Nepal Biodiversity Resource Book. Protected Areas, Ramsar Sites and World Heritage Sites.
  Published by International Centre for Integrated Mountain Development (ICIMOD), Ministry of Environment, Science and Technology (MOEST), Government of Nepal (GON).
- Bjorkman, O. (1981). Responses to different quantum flux densities. In: *Physiological Plant Ecology*. Eds. Lange, O. L., Nobel, P. S., Osmond, C. B., Ziegler, H. Encyclopedia of plant physiology, Springer-Verlag, Berlin. pp. 57-101.
- Bond, B. J. and Kavanagh, K. L. (1999). Stomatal behavior of four woody species in relation to leaf- specific hydraulic conductance and threshold water potential. *Tree Physiology*, **19**, 503-510.
- Borchert, R. (1993). Site water availability and stem water storage determine water status, phenology and distributions of trees in a tropical dry forest in Costa Rica. *Ecology*, 74, 68-77.
- Borchert, R. (1994a). Water status and development of tropical trees during seasonal drought. *Trees*, **8**, 115-125.
- Borchert, R. (1994b). Induction of rehydration and bud break by irrigation or rain in deciduous trees in tropical forests. *Biotropica*, **24**, 385-395.
- Borchert, R. (1994c). Soil and stem water storage determine phenology and distribution of tropical dry forest trees. *Ecology*, **75**, 1437-1449.
- Borchert, R. (1995). Phenology and flowering periodicity of Neotropical dry forest species: evidences from herbarium collections. *Journal of Tropical Ecology*, 11, 1-8.
- Bradford, K. J. and Hsiao, T. C. (1982). Physiological responses to moderate water stress. In: *Encyclopedia of Plant Physiology*. (Eds.), O. L. Lange., P. S. Nobel., C. B. Osmond. and H. Ziegler.Springer, Berlin, Germany. **12B**, 263-324.

- Brodribb, T. J. and Field, T. S. (2000). Stem hydraulic supply is linked to leaf photosynthetic capacity: evidence from New Caledonian and Tasmanian rainforest. *Plant, Cell and Environment*, **23(12)**, 1381-1388.
- Brodribb, T. J. and Cochard, H. (2009). Hydraulic failure defines the recovery and point of death in water-stressed conifers. *Plant Physiology*, **149**, 575-584.
- Brodribb, T. J. and Holbrook, N. M. (2005). Water stress deforms tracheids peripheral to the leaf vein of a tropical conifer. *Plant Physiology*, **137**, 1139-1146.
- Brown, H. T. and Escombe, F. (1900). Static diffusion of gasses and liquids in relation to the assimilation of carbon and translocation of plants. Phil. Trans. Roy. Soy. London Ser. B 193, 223-291.
- Carlson, D. H., Sharrow, D. H., Emmingham, W. H. and Lavender, D. P. (1994).Plant soil water relations in forestry and silvipastoral systems in Oregon. *Agrofoestry system*, 25(1), 1-12.
- Cao, K. and Booth, E. W. (2001).Leaf anatomical structure and photosynthetic induction for seedlings of five dipterocarp species under contrasting light conditions in a Bornean heath forest. *Journal of Tropical* Ecology, **17**, 163-175.
- Carlier, G., Peltier, J. P. and Gielly, L. (1992).Water relation of ash (*Fraxinusexcelsior* L.) in a mesoxerophytic mountain stand. *Annales des Sciences Forestieres*, 49(3), 207-223.
- Chand, B. D., Poudyal, K., Jha, P. K., Chhetri, R., Adhikari, S. and Bista, A. (2017). Plant Water Relations And Phenology In Response To Water Stress in *Quercus semecarpifolia* Along Altitudinal Gradient at Phulchowki Hill, Kathmandu, Nepal. *Physiological Ecology and Environmental Science*, 8(1 and 2), 39-48.
- Chaudhary, R. P. (1998). *Biodiversity in Nepal: Status and Conservation*. S. Devi, Saharanpur (U.P.), India and Tec. Press Books, Bangkok, Thailand.

- Choat, B., Jansen, S., Brodribb, T. J., Cochard, H., Delzon, S., Bhaskar, R., Bucci, S. J., Field, T. S., Gleason, S. M. and Hacke, U. G. (2012). Global convergence in the vulnerability of forests to drought. *Nature*, **491**, 752-755.
- Clifford, S. C., Arndt, S. K., Corlett, J. E., Joshi, S., Sankhla, N., Popp, M. and Jones,
  H. G. (1998). The role of solute accumulation, osmotic adjustment and changes in cell wall elasticity in drought tolerance in *Ziziphus mauritiana* (Lamk.). *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 49, 967-977.
- Collinson, S., Clawson, E., Azam- Ali, S. and Black, C. (1997). Effects of soil moisture deficits on the water relations of bambara groundnut (*Vigna* subterranean L. Verdc.). Journal of Experimental Botany, 48, 877-884.
- Cosgrove, D. J. (1988). In defense of the cell volumetric elastic modulus.*Plant Cell* and Environment, **11**, 67-69.
- Davis, K. J. (2005). Comparison of the Water Relations Characteristics of Woody Plants in Western Oregon.M.Sc. Thesis, Oregon State University, Corvallis.
- Dawson, T. E. (1996). Determining water use by trees and forests from isotopic, energy balance and transpiration analysis: the role of tree size and hydraulic lift. *Tree Physiology*, 16, 263-272.
- De Saussure, N. T. (1804). Researches Chimiques Sur la Vegetation. Madame Huzard, Paris.
- Dixon, H. H. (1914). Transpiration and Ascent of Sap in Plants. Mac-Millan, London, UK.
- Dixon, H. and Joly, J. (1894). On the Ascent of Sap. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London*, **57**, 3-5.
- DNPWC 2003. Protected Areas of Nepal. DNPWC, Kathmandu, Nepal.
- Dreyer, E., Bousquet, F., Ducrey, M. (1990). Use of pressure volume curves in water relation analysis on woody shoots: influence of rehydration and comparison of four European oak species. *Annales des sciences forestieres*, INRA/EDP Sciences: 47(4), 285-297.

- Dutrochet, H. J. (1837). Memories Pour Sevir a l'Histoire Anatomique des Vegetaux et des Animaux. J. B. Balliere et Fils, Paris.
- Edwards, D. R. and Dixon, M. A. (1995). Mechanisms of drought response in *Thuja* occidentalis L. I. Water stress conditioning and osmotic adjustment. *Tree Physiology*, **15**, 121-127.
- Epron, D. and Dreyer, E. (1996). Starch and soluble carbohydrates in leaves of water stressed oak saplings. *Annals of Forest Science*, **47**, 435-450.
- Escudero, A. and del Acro, J. M. (1987). Ecological significance of the phenology of leaf abscission. *Oikos*, **49**, 11-14.
- Ewers, F. W. (1985). Xylem structure and water conduction in conifer trees, dicot trees, and lianas. *International Association of Wood Anatomists*, Bulletin n. s. 6(4), 309-317.
- Ewers, F. W. and Cruziat, P. (1991). Measuring water transport and storage. In: Technique and Approaches in Forest Ecophysiology. (Eds.), J. P. Lassoie. and T. M. Hinckely., CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida, USA. pp. 92-112.
- Ewers, F. W. and Zimmermann, M. H. (1984). The hydraulic architecture of eastern hemlock (*Tsuga canadensis*). *Canadian Journal of Botany*, **62**, 940-946.
- Fan, S., Blake, T. J. and Blumwald, E. (1994). The relative contribution of elastic and osmotic adjustments to turgor maintenance of woody species. *Physiologia Plantarum*, **90**, 408-413.
- Forestry Nepal. (2014). Gateway to forestry information in Nepal. Forestry Nepal, Gateway to forestry information in Nepal.
- Fort, C., Muller, F., Label, P., Granier, A. and Dreyer, E. (1998). Stomatal conductance, growth and root signaling in *Betula pendula* seedlings subjected to partial soil drying. *Tree Physiology*, 18, 769-776.
- Francois, L., Aussnac, G., Levy, G., Clerc, B. and Willm, F. (1998). Influence of soil drying on leaf water potential, photosynthesis, stomatal conductance and growth in two black pine varieties. *Annales des Sciences Forestiers*, (Paris). 55(3), 287-299.

- Gifford, R. M., Thorne, J. H., Hitz, W. D. and Giaquinta, R. T. (1984). Crop productivity and photoassimilate partioning. *Science*, **24**, 801-808.
- Gorai, M., Hachef, A. and Neffati, M. (2010). Differential response in growth and water relationship of *Medicago sativa* (L.) and *Astragalus gombiformis* (Pom.) under water- limited conditions. *Emiratis Journal of Food and agriculture*, 22(1), 01-12.
- Goudriaan, J. and Van Laar, H. H. (1994). Modelling potential crop growth processes. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht. 283 pp.
- Griffin, K. L. (1994). Calorimetric estimates of construction cost and their use in ecological studies. *Functional Ecology*, **8**, 551-562.
- Han, S. S. and Kim, S. H. (1996). Ecophysiological interpretation on the water relation parameters of trees (VIII): The hydraulic architecture of *Quercus mongolica. Journal of Korean Forestry Society*, 85(1), 120-121.
- Hinckely, T. M., Richter, H. and Schulte, P. J. (1991). Water relations. *In: Physiology of trees.* (Eds.), A. S. Raghavendra. and John Wiley, New York, USA. pp. 137-162.
- Hinckely, T. M., Dougherty, P. M., Lassoie, J. P., Roberts, J. E. and Teskey, R. O. (1979). A severe drought: impact of tree growth, phenology, net photosynthetic rate and water relations. *The American Midland Naturalist*, 102(2), 307-315.
- Holbrook, N. M., Whitebeck, J. L. and Mooney, H. A. (1995). Drought responses of neotropical dry forest trees. *In: Seasonally Dry Tropical Forests*. (Eds.), S. H.
  Bullock., H. A. Mooney. and E. Medina., Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp. 243-276.
- Hsiao, T. C., Acevedo, E., Fereres, E. and Henderson, W. D. (1976).Water stress, growth and osmotic adjustment. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society London*, B. 273, 479-500.

- Hubbard, R. M., Bond, B. J., and Ryan, N. G. (1999). Evidence that hydraulic conductance limits photosynthesis in old *Pinusponderosa* trees. *Tree Physiology*, **19**, 165-172.
- Huber, B. (1928). Weitere quantitative Undersuchungen uber das Wasserleitungs system der Pflanzen. *Jahrb. Wiss. Bot*, **67**, 877-959.
- Kikuzawa, K. (1995). Leaf phenology as an optimal strategy for carbon gain in plants. *Canadian Journal of Botany*, **73**, 158-163.
- Koister, R. P., Skoneczka, J. A., Cary, T. R., Diers, B. W. and Ainsworth, E. A. (2014). Historical gains in soyabean (*Glycine max* Merr.) seed yield are driven by linear increases in light interception, energy conversion, and partitioning efficiencies. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 65, 3311-3321.
- Kolb, T. E. and Stone, J. E. (2000). Differences in leaf gas exchange and water relations among species and tree sizes in an Arizona pine-oak forest. *Tree Physiology*, 20(1), 1-12.
- Kozlowski, T. T., Kramer, P. J. and Pallardy, S. G., (1991). The Physiological Ecology of Woody Plants. Academic Press, San Diego, USA.514 pp.
- Kramer, P. J. and Boyer, J. S. (1995).Water Relations of Plants and Soils .Academic Press, San Diego, USA, 404 pp.
- Kramer, P. J. and Kozlowski, T. J. (1960). Physiology of Trees. Mc Graw-Hill Book Company, Inc. USA.
- Lambers, H. and Poorter, H. (1992). Inherent variation in growth rate between higher plants: a search for physiological causes and ecological - consequences. *Advances in Ecological Research*, 23, 187-261.
- Lambers, H., Chapin III, F. S. and Pons, T. L., (1998). Plant Physiological Ecology. Springer-Verlag, New York, USA, 533 pp.
- Larcher, W. (1995). Physiological Plant Ecology. 3rd Edition, Springer-Verlag, New York, USA, 448 pp.

- Lawlor, W. D. (2002). Limitation to photosynthesis in water-stressed leaves: Stomata Vs. metabolism and role of ATP. *Annals of Botany*, **89**, 871-885.
- Leith, H. (1974). Phenology and Seasonality modelling Ecological Studies. *Analysis and synthesis*, Vol. **8**. Springer-Verlag. 444 pp.
- Levitt, J. (1972). Responses of Plants to Environmental Stresses. Academic Press, New York, **177(4051)**, 786 pp.
- Li, Y., Sperry, J. S., and Shao, M. (2009).Hydraulic conductance and vulnerability to cavitation in corn (*Zea mays* L.) hybrids of differing drought resistance. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, **66**, 341-346.
- Lowenstein, N. J. and Pallardy, S. G. (1998). Drought tolerance, xylem sap abscissic acid and stomatal conductance during soil drying: a comparison of canopy trees of three temperate deciduous angiosperms. *Tree Physiology*, **18**(7), 431-439.
- Maier-Maercker, U. and Koch, W. (1995). Poor stomatal control of water balance and the abscission of green needles from a declining stand of spruce trees [*Picea abies* (L.) Karst.] from the northern Alps. *Trees*, **10(2)**, 63-73.
- Manandhar, N. P. (2002). *Plants and People of Nepal*. Portland, Oregon, USA: Timber Press. p. 388.
- Manske, L. L. (2001). Environmental factors to consider during planning of management for range plants in the Dickinson, North Dakota, region, 1892-2000. NDSU Dickinson Research Extension Center. Range Research Report DREC 01-1018d. Dickinson, ND. 37 pp.
- Martimez, J. P., Silva, H., Ledent, J. F. and Pinto, M. (2007). Effect of drought stress on the osmotic adjustment, cell wall elasticity and cell volume of six cultivars of common beans (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.). *European Journal of Agronomy*, 26, 30-38.
- Meinzer, F., Seymour, V. and Goldstein, G. (1983). Water balance in developing leaves of four savanna woody species. *Oecologia*, **60**, 237-243.

- Monteiro, A. B., Junior, C. R., Romano, L. R., Timm, L. C. and Toebe, M. (2018).
  Water potential in peach branches as a function of soil water storage and evaporative demand of the atmosphere. *Revista Brasileira de Fruticultura*, 40(1), 403.
- Monteith, J. L. and Owen, P. C. (1958). A thermocouple method for measuring relative humidity in the ranges 95-100%. *Journal of Science Instrumentation*, **35**, 443-446.
- Mulkey, S. S., Wright, S. J. and Smith, A. P. (1991). Drought acclimation of an understory shrub (*Psychotria limonesis*; Rubiaceae) in a seasonally dry tropical forest in Panama. *American Journal of Botany*, 78, 579-587.
- Naor, A. (2001). Irrigation and crop load influence fruit size and water relations in field grown 'spadono' pear. *Journal of American Society for Horticulture Science*, 126(2), 252-255.
- Nilsen, E. T. and Muller, W. H. (1981). Phenology of Lotus scoparius. Ecological Monographs, **51**, 324-341.
- Niinemets, U. (2001). Global scale climatic controls of leaf dry mass per area, density, and thickness in trees and shrubs. In: *Ecology*, **82(2)**, 453-469.
- Niinemets, Ü.; Kull, O. and Tenhenun, J. D. (1998). An analysis of light effects on foliar morphology, physiology, and light interception in temperate deciduous woody species of contrasting shade tolerance. *Tree Physiology*, **18**, 681-696.
- Negi, G. C. S. and Singh, S. P. (1992). Leaf growth pattern in evergreen and deciduous species of Central Himalaya, India. *International Journal of Biometeorology*, 36, 233-242.
- Orshan, G. (1989). Plant pheno-morphological studies in Mediterranean type ecosystems. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht.
- Osonubi, O. and Davies, W. J. (1978). Solute accumulation in leaves and roots of woody plants subjected to water stress. *Oecologia*, **32**, 323-332.
- Pallardy, S. G., Pereira, J. S. and Parker, W. C. (1991). Measuring the state of water in tree systems. *In: Techniques and Approaches in Forest Tree Ecophysiology*.

(Eds.), J. P. Lassoie. and T. M. Hinckley. CRC Press, Boca Raton, Fla. pp. 22-76.

- Pandey, B. P. (2010). A report on presence absence survey of clouded leopard (*Neofelis nebulosa*) in Shivapuri Nagarjun National Park, Nepal.Submitted to Government of Nepal.
- Parker, W. C. and Pallardy, S. G. (1987). The influence of resaturation method and issue type on pressure- volume analysis of *Quercus alba* L. seedlings. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, **38**, 535-549.
- Passioura, J. B. (1988). Root signals control leaf expansion in wheat seedling growing in dry soil. *Australian Journal of Plant Physiology*, **15**, 687-693.
- Patni, V., Sharma, N. and Mishra, P. (2012). Oak (*Quercus leucotrichophora*) galls, as an intense source of natural gallic acid. *International Journal Life Science*, 1(3), 186-191.
- Pfeffer, W. (1877). Osmotische Undersuchunger. Englerman, Leipzig W., (English Translation Kepner, G. and Stademan, E.G. 1985.) "Osmotic Investigations: Studies in Cell Mechanics". Van Nostrand Reinhold, New York.
- Plants For A Future. (2021-01-09). https://www.pfaforg/user/Plant. Aspx?
- Poudyal, K. (2004). Plant Water Relations of Some Selected Himalayan Tree Species at Pulchowki Hill, Kathmandu. Ph.D. Thesis. Tribhuvan University. pp. 1-167.
- Poudyal, K. (2013). Maintenance of turgor in response to drought in Schima wallchi and Quercus semecarpifolia at Phulchowki hill, Kathmandu, Nepal. Journal of Biological and Scientific Opinion, 1(3), 145-150.
- Poudyal, K., (2014). Plant water relations and drought adaptations of *Schima wallichii* at Phulchowki hill, Nepal. *Scientific world*, **12**, 79-84.
- Poudyal, K., Jha, P. K., Zobel, D. B. (2003). Seasonal changes in hydraulic conductance of Himalayan trees in response to drought. *Ecoprint*, 10, 59-73.

- Poudyal, K., Jha, P. K., Zobel, D. B., Thapa, C. B. (2004). Patterns of leaf conductance and water potential of five Himalayan tree species, *Tree Physiology*, 24, 689-699.
- Poudyal, K., Jha, P. K., Zobel, D. B., Thapa, C. B. (2012a). Pressure volume curve analysis in five Himalayan tree species. *Physiological Ecology and Environmental Science*, 3(1 and 2), 1-11.
- Poudyal, K., Jha, P. K., Zobel, D. B., Thapa, C. B. (2012b). Role of wood water properties and leaf dynamics in phenology and response to drought in evergreen Himalayan trees. *Ecoprint*, **19**, 71-84.
- Pou, A., Medrano, H., Flexas, J. and Tyerman, S. D. (2013). A putative role for TIP and PIP aquaporis in dynamics of leaf hydraulic and stomatal conductances in grapevine under water stress and re- watering. *Plant, Cell and Environment*, 36, 828-843.
- Premachandra, G. S., Saneoka, H., Fujita, K. and Ogata, S. (1992). Leaf water relations, osmotic adjustment, cell membrane stability, epicuticular wax load and growth as affected by increasing eater deficits in sorghum. *Journal* of Experimental Botany, 43, 1569-1576.
- Prior, L. D. and Eamus, D. (2000). Seasonal changes in hydraulic conductance, xylem embolism and leaf area in *Eucalyptus tetrodonta* and *Eucalyptus miniata* saplings in a north Australian savanna. *Plant, Cell and* Environment, 23, 955-965.
- Ralhan, P. K. and Singh, S. P. (1987). Dynamics of nutrients and leaf mass in central Himalayan forest trees and shrubs. *Ecology*, 68(6), 1974-1983.
- Ralhan, P. K., Khanna, R. K., Singh, S. P. and Singh, J. S. (1985). Phenological characteristics of the tree layer of Kumaun Himalayan forests. *Vegetation*, 60, 91-101.
- Rambal, S. and Leterme, J. (1987). Changes in aboveground structure and resistances to water uptake in *Quercus coccifera* along a rainfall gradient. *Plant Response* to Stress, pp. 191-200.

- Reed, S. E. (2001). Using Pressure-Volume Analysis to Determine the Effect of the Hydrostatic Gradient on Cell Turgidity. Global Change Education Program. pp. 1- 21.
- Reich, P. B. (1995). Phenology of tropical forests: Patterns, causes and consequences. *Canadian Journal of Botany*, **73**, 164-174.
- Reich, P. B. and Borchert, R. (1984).Water Stress and Tree Phenology in a Tropical Dry Forest in the Lowlands of Costa Rica. In: Journal of Ecology, 72(1), 61-74.
- Richards, L. A. and Ogata, G. (1958).Thermocouple for vapour pressure measurements in biological and soil systems at high humidity. *Sciences*, **128**, 1089-1090.
- Robichaux, R. H. (1984). Variations in the tissue water relations of two sympatric Hawaiian *Dabautia* species that differ in habitat and diploid chromosome number. *Oecologia*, 66, 77-80.
- Sachs, J. V. (1882a). Lectures on the Physiology of Plants. 2nd (Ed.), English Translation by Ward, Oxford University Press. 1887 pp.
- Sachs, J. V. (1882b). Textbook of Botany. 2nd (Ed.), English Translation by Virres. Clarendon Press, Oxford.
- Sack, L. and Holbrook, N. M. (2006). Leaf hydraulics. Annual Reviews of Plant Biology, 57, 361-381.
- Sailendra, N. Z. and Meinzer, F. C. (1991). Symplast volume, turgor, stomatal conductance growth in relation to osmotic and elastic adjustment in droughted sugarcane. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, **42**, 1251-1260.
- Schiller, G. and Cohen, Y. (1999). Water balance of *Pinus halepensis* Mill. Afforestation in an arid region.*Forest Ecology and Management*, **105(1-3)**, 121-128.
- Scholander, P. F., Hammel, H. T. and Hemmingsen, E. A. (1964). Hydrostatic pressure and osmotic potential in leaves of mangroves and some other plants, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. USA, pp. 52-119.

- Shrestha, S. (2012). Drivers of Land Use Change: A Study from Sundarijal Catchment, Shivapuri Nagarjun National Park.
- Shrestha, P. M. (2015). "Diet composition of Leopard (*Pantherapardus Linnaeus*, 1758) in Shivapuri Nagarjun National Park, Nepal". Master's degree Thesis. Central Department of Zoology.
- Shrestha, B. B., Uprety, Y. and Jha, P. K. (2006). Wood properties in relation to foliar phenology of some planted tree species at Kirtipur, central Nepal. *Tropical Ecology*, 47(2), 201-209.
- Shrestha, B. B., Uprety, Y., Nepal, K., Tripathi, S. and Jha, P. K. (2007). Phenology and water relations of eight woody species in the Coronation Garden of Kirtipur, Central Nepal, *Himalayan Journal of Sciences*, 4(6), 49-56.
- Sigdel, S. R., Rupakheti, D., Baral, U., Tripathee, L., Aryal, R., Dhital, S. and Sharma,
  P. (2015). Physico-Chemical Characteristics of Soil along an Altitudinal
  Gradients at Southern aspect of Shivapuri Nagarjun National Park, Central
  Nepal. *International Research Journal of Earth Sciences*, 3(2), 1-6.
- Singh, J. S. and Singh, S. P. (1992). Forest of Himalaya: Structure, Functioning and Impact of Man. Gyanodaya Prakashan, Nainital, India. 294 pp.
- Singh, K. A. and Thompson, F. B. (1995).Effect of lopping on water potential, transpiration, regrowth, 14C- photosynthate distribution and biomass production in *Alnus glutinosa*. *Tree Physiology*, **15**, 197-202.
- Singh, K. P. and Kushwaha, C. P. (2005). Emerging paradigms of tree phenology in dry tropics. *In: Current Science*, **89(6)**, 964-975.
- Singh, S. P., Tewari, A., Singh, S. K. and Pathak, G. C. (2000). Significance of phenologically asynchronous populations of the central Himalayan oaks in drought adaptation. *Current Science*, 79, 353-357.
- Smith, W. K. and Hollinger, D. Y. (1991). Measuring stomatal behaviour. In: Technique and Approaches in Forest Tree Ecophysiology. Eds. J. P. Sobrado MA. 1991. Cost-benefit relationships in deciduous and evergreen leaves of tropical dry forest species. Functional Ecology, 5, 608-616.

- Spanner, D. C. (1951). The Peltier effect and its use in the measurement of suction pressure. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, **2**, 145-168.
- Stalfelt, M. G. (1932). Der stomature Regular in der pflanzlicher Transpiration. *Planta*, 17, 22.
- Stout, D. L. and Sala, A. (2003). Xylem vulnerability to cavitation in *Pseudotsuga* menziesii and *Pinus ponderosa* from contrasting habitats. Tree *Physiology*, 43–50.
- Subedi, R. (1999). An Ecological Study of Castanopsis species in the Surrounding Hills of Kathmandu Valley, Nepal. M. Sc. Thesis, Central Department of Botany, Tribhuwan University, Kathmandu, Nepal.
- Tewari, A. (2000). Water status measurements in a banj oak (Quercus leucotrichophora A. Camus.) forest in Kumaun Central Himalayas. Journal of Environmental Biology, 21(1), 23-27.
- Tewari, A., Bhatt, J. and Mittal, A. (2016). Influence of tree water potential in inducing flowering in *Rhododendron arboreum* in the central Himalayan region. *Forest*, 9, 842-846.
- Thadani, R. and Ashton, P. M. S. (1995). Regeneration of banj oak (Quercus leucotrichophora A. Camus) in the central Himalaya. Forest Ecology and Management, 78(1-3), 217-224.
- Thomas, F. M. and Hartmann, G. (1996). Soil and water relations in mature oak stands of northern Germany differing in the degree of decline. *Annales des Sciences Forestiers* (Paris), **53(2-3)**, 697-720.
- Traube, M. (1867). Experimente zur Theorie der Zellbildung and Endosome. Archiv. Journal of Anatomy and Physiology, Wiss Medecin. 87, 165.
- Tropical Plants Database, Ken Fern. tropical.theferns.info. 2021-01-09.<tropical.theferns.info/viewtropical.php?id=Castanopsis+tribuloides>
- Tyree, M. T. (1981). The relationship between the bulk modulus of elasticity of a complex tissue and the mean modulus of its cell. *Annals of Botany*, **47**, 547-559.

- Tyree, M. T. and Cochard, H. (1996). Summer and winter embolism in Oak, impact on water relations. *Annales de Sciences Foresters* (Paris), **53(2-3)**, 697-720.
- Tyree, M. T. and Jarvis, P. G. (1982).Water in tissues and cells.*In: Encyclopaedia of Plant Physiology*. (Eds.), O. L. Lange., P. S. Nobel., C. B. Osmond. and H. Ziegler. New series, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Germany. **12b**, 35-77.
- Tyree, M. T. and Ewers, F. W. (1991). The hydraulic architecture of trees and other woody plants. *New Phytologist*, **119**, 345-360.
- Tyree, M. T. and Ewers, F. W. (1996). Hydraulic architecture of woody tropical plants. *In: Tropical Forests Plants*. (Eds.), S. S. Mulkhey., R. L. Chazdon. and A. P. Smith. Chapman and Hall. New York, USA. pp. 217-243.
- Tyree, M. T. and Sperry, J. S. (1989). Vulnerability of Xylem to Cavitation and Embolism. Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Molecular Biology, 40, 19-38.
- Tyree, M. T., Synderman, D. A., Wilmot, T. R. and Machado, J. L. (1991). Water relations and hydraulic architecture of a tropical tree (*Scheffelere morotoni*): data, models and a comparision of two temperate species. *Plant Physiology*, 96, 1105-1113.
- Wang, J. R., Hawkins, C. D. B. and Letchfor, T. (1998). Photosynthesis, water and nitrogen use efficiencies of four paper birch (*Betula papyrifera*) populations grown under different soil moisture and nutrient regimes. *Forest Ecology and Management*, **112**, 233-244.
- Wang, J., Ives, N. E. and Lechowicz, M. J. (1992). The relation of foliar phenology to xylem embolism in trees. *Environmental Ecology*, 6, 469-475.
- Wang, Y. and Zwiazek, J. J. (1999). Spring changes in water relations, gas exchange, and carbohydrates of white spruce (*Picea glauca*) seedlings. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 29, 332-338.
- Waring, R. H. and Running, S. W. (1978). Sapwood water storage: its contribution to xylem transpiration and effect upon water and conductance through a stem of old-growth Douglas-Fir. *Plant Cell and Environment*, 1, 131-140.

- Williams-Linera, G. (1997). Phenology of Deciduous and Broadleaved-Evergreen Tree Species in a Mexican Tropical Lower Montane Forest. *Global Ecology* and Biogeography Letters, 6(2), 115-127.
- Williams, R. J., Myers, B. A., Muller, W. J., Duff, G. A. and Eamus, D. (1997). Leaf phenology of woody species in a north Australian tropical savanna. *Ecology*, 78, 2542–2558.
- Wilson, P. J., Thompson, K. and Hodgson, J. G. (1999). Specific leaf area and leaf dry matter content as alternative predictor of plant strategies. *New Physiologist.* 143: 155-162.
- Witkowski, E. T. F. and Lamont, B. B. (1991). Leaf Specific Mass Confounds Leaf Density and Thickness. *Oecologia*, **88**, 486-493.
- Zhang, J. and Davies, W. J. (1990). Does ABA in a xylem control a rate of leaf growth is soil dried maize and sunflower plants? *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 41(230), 1125-1132.
- Zimmermann, U., Schneider, H., Wegner, L. H., Wagner H. J., Szimtenings, M., Haose, A. and Bentrup, W. F. (2002). What are the driving forces for water lifting in xylem conduit? *Phosiologia Plantarum*, **114**, 327-335.
- Zimmermann, U. and Steudle, E. (1978). Physical aspects of water relations of plant cells. *Advanced Botanical Research*, **6**, 45-117.
- Zlatev, Z. (2005). Effects of water stress on leaf water relations of young bean plants. *Journal of Central Europe Agriculture*, **6(1)**, 5-14.
- Zlatev, Z. and Lidon, F. C. (2012). An overview on drought induced changes in plant growth, water relations and photosynthesis. *Emirates Journal of Food and Agriculture*, **24(1)**, 57-72.
- Zobel, D. B. (1996a). Variation of water relations parameters with extended rehydration time, leaf form, season, and proportion of leaf. *Canadian Journal* of Forest Research, 26, 175-185.
- Zobel, D. B. (1996b). Using twig starch levels as an index of tree tress in Himalayan forest. *In: Environment and Biodiversity*: In the Context of South Asia. (Eds.),

P. K. Jha., G. P. S. Ghimire., S. B. Karmacharya., S. R. Baral. and P. Lacoul. *Ecological Society*, Kathmandu, Nepal. pp. 273-280.

- Zobel, D. B., Jeet Ram and Bargali, S. S. (1995). Structural and physiological changes in *Quercus leucotrichophora* and *Pinus roxburghii* associated with stand disturbance in a Kumaun Himalaya, India. *International Journal of Ecology* and Environmental Science, 21, 45-66.
- Zobel, D. B., Lee, R., Jay, H. K. and Richard, A. S. (2001). Variation in water relations characteristics of terminal shoots of Port – Orford – Cedar (*Chamaecyparis lawsoniana*) seedlings. *Tree Physiology*, 21, 743-749.
- Zobel, D. B. and Singh, S. P. (1995). Tree water relations along the vegetational gradient in Himalayas. *Current Science*, **68**, 742-745.
- Zobel, D. B. and Singh, S. P. (1997). Himalayan forest and ecological generalizations. *Bioscience*, 47, 735-745.
- Zwieniecki, M. A. and Holbrook, N. M. (1998). Diurnal variation in xylem hydraulic conductivity in white ash (*Fraxinus americana* L.), red maple (*Acer rubrum* L,) and red spruce (*Picea rubens* Sarg,). *Plant Cell and Environment*, **21**, 1173-1180.

### **APPENDICES**

**Appendix 1:** Soil moisture content (%) at 15 cm and 30 cm depth, monthly variation for *C. tribuloides* and *Q. leucotrichophora*. Values are mean with  $\pm$  Standard error.

Species	Months	SMC <sub>15cm</sub> (%)	SMC <sub>30cm</sub> (%)	
	Feb.	10.10±1.20	10.53±1.18	
	Mar.	15.35±2.50	17.24±3.61	
	Apr.	13.40±1.30	15.32±3.31	
	Jun.	20.40±0.79	20.14±1.42	
	Aug.	19.92±0.90	20.51±1.43	
C. tribuloides	Sep.	23.79±0.46	23.05±1.32	
	Nov.	12.13±0.90	11.90±1.16	
	Jan.	12.50±1.06	15.11±0.60	
	Feb.	5.53±0.37	6.70±0.47	
	Mar.	12.44±2.16	15.44±3.91	
Q. leucotrichophora	Apr.	14.14±2.73	14.70±2.84	
	Jun.	17.06±3.05	16.13±3.20	
	Aug.	15.56±0.20	13.21±1.71	
	Sep.	15.31±0.12	14.73±0.97	
	Nov.	6.60±1.25	6.59±1.14	
	Jan.	12.58±1.83	11.20±2.15	

**Appendix 2:** Parameters obtained PV- curve analysis. Monthly variation in relative water content at zero turgor (RWC<sub>z</sub>, %), osmotic potential at zero turgor ( $\psi_{sz}$ , MPa), osmotic potential at full turgor ( $\psi_{sf}$ , MPa), index of elasticity ( $\varepsilon$ , MPa) and desiccation tolerance (IDT) for *C. tribuloides* and *Q. leucotrichophora*. Values are mean with ± Standard error.

Species	Months	RWCz	ψsz	Ψsf	ε	IDT
	Feb.	88.0±2.76	-4.0	-2.34±0.03	2.15±0.50	62.28
	Mar.	82.99±0.34	-4.90±0.05	-3.14±0.16	2.14±0.33	77.29
	Apr.	84.93±0.63	-4.16±0.08	-2.52±0.13	1.69±0.15	74.53
	Jun.	88.20±1.11	-4.04±0.31	-2.56±0.13	2.48±0.11	60.96
C. tribuloides	Aug.	88.54±1.12	-3.75±0.04	-2.43±0.19	2.52±0.60	39.83
	Sep.	90.15±0.43	-4.15±0.19	-2.81±0.21	3.15±0.14	40.45
	Nov.	89.30±1.12	-5.09±0.08	-3.20±0.02	3.13±0.55	26.42
	Jan.	88.53±0.43	-4.37±0.09	-3.02±0.19	3.08±0.02	42.30
Q. leucotrichophora	Feb.	89.98±0.89	-4.86±0.21	-3.23±0.15	3.43±0.50	27.41
	Mar.	87.11±0.90	-4.44±0.13	-3.21±0.19	3.11±0.69	70.02
	Apr.	87.66±1.92	-4.47±0.26	-2.75±0.19	2.66±0.55	55.79
	Jun.	88.0±0.22	-4.45±0.05	-2.92±0.08	2.88±0.43	51.89
	Aug.	90.02±0.98	-3.75±0.04	-2.41±0.19	2.62±0.36	40.38
	Sep.	90.86±0.41	-4.75±0.24	-3.34±0.12	3.77±0.05	21.57
	Nov.	90.13±0.80	-4.90±0.05	-2.89±0.21	2.87±0.34	33.16
	Jan.	90.97±0.50	-5.0	-3.55±0.08	3.11±0.69	22.63

Appendix 3: Parameters obtained from twig conductance. Monthly variation in Xylem conductivity ( $K_h$ , kg. m. sec<sup>-1</sup> . MPa<sup>-1</sup>), Huber Value ( $H_v$ ), Specific conductivity ( $K_s$ , kg. m<sup>-1</sup>. sec<sup>-1</sup>. MPa<sup>-1</sup>) and Leaf specific conductivity ( $K_l$ , kg. m<sup>-1</sup>. sec<sup>-1</sup>. MPa<sup>-1</sup>) for *C. tribuloides* and *Q. leucotrichophora*. Values are mean with  $\pm$  Standard error.

Species	Months	Hv	K <sub>h</sub>	Ks	Kı
	Feb.	1.92*10 <sup>-4</sup> ±0.32*10 <sup>-4</sup>	1.04*10 <sup>-6</sup> ±0.16*10 <sup>-6</sup>	0.46±0.15	0.75*10 <sup>-4</sup> ±0.25*10 <sup>-4</sup>
	Mar.	2.06*10 <sup>-4</sup> ±0.46*10 <sup>-4</sup>	1.19*10 <sup>-6</sup> ±0.18*10 <sup>-6</sup>	0.42±0.02	0.67*10 <sup>-4</sup> ±0.13*10 <sup>-4</sup>
	Apr.	1.90*10 <sup>-4</sup> ±0.37*10 <sup>-4</sup>	0.64*10 <sup>-6</sup> ±0.03*10 <sup>-6</sup>	0.31±0.03	0.36*10 <sup>-4</sup> ±0.04*10 <sup>-4</sup>
	Jun.	1.57*10 <sup>-4</sup> ±0.06*10 <sup>-4</sup>	1.16*10 <sup>-6</sup> ±0.20*10 <sup>-6</sup>	0.34±0.11	0.43*10 <sup>-4</sup> ±0.11*10 <sup>-4</sup>
C. tribuloides	Aug.	1.72*10 <sup>-4</sup> ±0.41*10 <sup>-4</sup>	2.88*10 <sup>-6</sup> ±1.49*10 <sup>-6</sup>	1.08±0.68	1.38*10 <sup>-4</sup> ±0.79*10 <sup>-4</sup>
	Sep.	1.42*10 <sup>-4</sup> ±0.38*10 <sup>-4</sup>	1.44*10 <sup>-6</sup> ±0.34*10 <sup>-6</sup>	0.80±0.10	0.74*10 <sup>-4</sup> ±0.15*10 <sup>-4</sup>
	Nov.	1.42*10 <sup>-4</sup> ±0.38*10 <sup>-4</sup>	1.17*10 <sup>-6</sup> ±0.05*10 <sup>-6</sup>	0.33±0.05	0.97*10 <sup>-4</sup> ±0.15*10 <sup>-4</sup>
	Jan.	1.89*10 <sup>-4</sup> ±0.32*10 <sup>-4</sup>	1.37*10 <sup>-6</sup> ±0.15*10 <sup>-6</sup>	0.78±0.03	1.16*10 <sup>-4</sup> ±0.14*10 <sup>-4</sup>
Q. leucotrichophora	Feb.	3.12*10 <sup>-4</sup> ±0.89*10 <sup>-4</sup>	2.25*10 <sup>-6</sup> ±0.33*10 <sup>-6</sup>	0.45±0.04	1.17*10 <sup>-4</sup> ±0.39*10 <sup>-4</sup>
	Mar.	2.37*10 <sup>-4</sup> ±0.73*10 <sup>-4</sup>	1.77*10 <sup>-6</sup> ±0.84*10 <sup>-6</sup>	0.56±0.21	1.05*10 <sup>-4</sup> ±0.60*10 <sup>-4</sup>
	Apr.	1.68*10 <sup>-4</sup> ±0.26*10 <sup>-4</sup>	1.02*10 <sup>-6</sup> ±0.25*10 <sup>-6</sup>	0.38±0.16	0.39*10 <sup>-4</sup> ±0.12*10 <sup>-4</sup>
	Jun.	1.36*10 <sup>-4</sup> ±0.11*10 <sup>-4</sup>	2.63*10 <sup>-6</sup> ±0.53*10 <sup>-6</sup>	0.78±0.22	0.89*10 <sup>-4</sup> ±0.20*10 <sup>-4</sup>
	Aug.	2.34*10 <sup>-4</sup> ±0.60*10 <sup>-4</sup>	3.07*10 <sup>-6</sup> ±1.05*10 <sup>-6</sup>	0.60±0.05	1.22*10 <sup>-4</sup> ±0.31*10 <sup>-4</sup>
	Sep.	1.06*10 <sup>-4</sup> ±0.27*10 <sup>-4</sup>	1.38*10 <sup>-6</sup> ±0.59*10 <sup>-6</sup>	0.61±0.23	0.44*10 <sup>-4</sup> ±0.08*10 <sup>-4</sup>
	Nov.	2.02*10 <sup>-4</sup> ±0.41*10 <sup>-4</sup>	1.45*10 <sup>-6</sup> ±0.37*10 <sup>-6</sup>	0.49±0.21	0.68*10 <sup>-4</sup> ±0.20*10 <sup>-4</sup>
	Jan.	1.36*10 <sup>-4</sup> ±0.14*10 <sup>-4</sup>	1.31*10 <sup>-6</sup> ±0.22*10 <sup>-6</sup>	0.53±0.10	0.56*10 <sup>-4</sup> ±0.06*10 <sup>-4</sup>

Species	Months	Mean leaf area (mm²)	
	Feb.	410.07	
	Mar.	468.33	
	Apr.	340.70	
	Jun.	336.73	
C. tribuloides	Aug.	381.27	
	Sep.	385.24	
	Nov.	402.30	
	Jan 2	382.76	
	Jan 28	375.25	
	Feb.	268.91	
	Mar.	281.87	
	Apr.	315.17	
	<b>Jun.</b> 335.18		
Q. leucotrichophora	Aug.	344.39	
	Sep.	348.64	
	Nov.	340.99	
	Jan 2	339.64	
	Jan 28	335.43	

# **Appendix 4:** Monthly variation in mean leaf area (mm<sup>2</sup>) for *C. tribuloides* and *Q. leucotrichophora.*

## Appendix 5: Monthly variationin starch reserved (%) and specific leaf mass (SLM,

		Starch reserved		
Species	Months	0 Year	1 Year	SLM
	Feb.	30	0±0	1.13*10 <sup>-2</sup> ±0.05*10 <sup>-2</sup>
	Mar.	100	61.67±1.67	1.0*10 <sup>-2</sup> ±0.12*10 <sup>-2</sup>
	Apr.	47.67±1.45	29.33±0.67	0.62*10 <sup>-2</sup> ±0.08*10 <sup>-2</sup>
	Jun.	0±0	0±0	0.86*10 <sup>-2</sup> ±0.06*10 <sup>-2</sup>
C. tribuloides	Aug.	11.67±1.67	0±0	0.99*10 <sup>-2</sup> ±0.07*10 <sup>-2</sup>
	Sep.	9.33±0.67	0±0	0.90*10 <sup>-2</sup> ±0.07*10 <sup>-2</sup>
	Nov.	90	80	1.01*10 <sup>-2</sup> ±0.04*10 <sup>-2</sup>
	Jan	27.67±1.45	0±0	0.91*10 <sup>-2</sup> ±0.06*10 <sup>-2</sup>
	Feb.	31±2.08	20	1.31*10 <sup>-2</sup> ±0.07*10 <sup>-2</sup>
	Mar.	100	80	0.88*10 <sup>-2</sup> ±0.10*10 <sup>-2</sup>
	Apr.	30	10	0.80*10 <sup>-2</sup> ±0.06*10 <sup>-2</sup>
	Jun.	0±0	0±0	1.00*10 <sup>-2</sup> ±0.11*10 <sup>-2</sup>
Q. leucotrichophora	Aug.	30	0±0	1.10*10 <sup>-2</sup> ±0.05*10 <sup>-2</sup>
	Sep.	0±0	0±0	1.09*10 <sup>-2</sup> ±0.05*10 <sup>-2</sup>
	Nov.	0±0	0±0	1.10*10 <sup>-2</sup> ±0.04*10 <sup>-2</sup>
	Jan	0±0	0±0	1.06*10 <sup>-2</sup> ±0.07*10 <sup>-2</sup>

gcm<sup>-2</sup>) for *C. tribuloides* and *Q. leucotrichophora*. Values are mean with  $\pm$  Standard error.

## PHOTOPLATES





Young new leaves in C. tribuloides in September



Inflorescence emergence in *C. tribuloides* in September



Leaves damaged by insects and necrotic patches in C. tribuloides



A twig of *Q*. leucotrichophora



Young fruits of Q. leucotrichophora in June